
EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
PENNS PLACE
PETERSFIELD
HAMPSHIRE 
GU31 4EX

Telephone: 01730 266551
Website: www.easthants.gov.uk

DEVELOPMENT POLICY AND AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
PANEL AGENDA

Date: Wednesday 18 April 2018  

Time: 6.30 pm

Venue: Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield, GU31 4EX

Membership: Councillor S Pond (Chairman)

Councillors A Glass (Vice-Chairman), R Ayer, K Carter, D Evans, L Evans, G Hill, 
K Moon, S Schillemore, G Shepherd, I Thomas and A Williams

Reserves: Councillors C Louisson and D Brooks Jackson

The business to be transacted is set out below: 

Nick Leach
Monitoring Officer

Date of Publication: 10 April 2018

Contact Officer: Cynthia Haveron, Democratic Services Officer
Email:  Cynthia.haveron@easthants.gov.uk



ii

Pages
1 Apologies for Absence  

To receive apologies for absence. 

2 Chairman's Announcements  

To receive any matters the Chairman wishes to report. 

3 Declarations of Interest  

To receive and record any declarations of interest from members 
present in respect of any of the various matters on the agenda for the 
meeting. 

4 Confirmation of the Minutes  

To approve the minutes of the Panel held on 7 March 2018. 
(Previously circulated) 

5 Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area Supplementary 
Planning Document  

1 - 56

6 EHDC Response to National Planning Policy Framework 
Consultation  

For Consideration  

57 - 74

7 Article 4 direction for Changes of Use from Employment to 
Residential Use, on Selected Sites and Areas Outside of the 
South Downs National Park  

For Noting 

75 - 114



iii

GENERAL INFORMATION

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073.

Internet

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk

Public Attendance and Participation

Members of the public are welcome to attend and observe the meetings. 
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on 
matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further 
information please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda. 

Disabled Access

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled.

Emergency Procedure

Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound.

PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY.

DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO.

No Smoking Policy

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and ground

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/




NON EXEMPT

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT POLICY AND 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING PANEL

18 April 2018

The Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area 
Supplementary Planning Document.

Report by Planning Policy

Portfolio: Planning – Cllr Angela Glass 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Councillors the revised Wealden 
Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area (SPD) which has been prepared by 
officers.

1.2 A draft version of the SPD was subject to public consultation for a period of eight 
weeks between 22 January 2018 and 19 March 2018. Appendix A accompanying 
this report contains the Consultation Statement which sets out how the Council 
promoted the consultation; the comments received and officer responses to 
these comments. 

1.3 Appendix B accompanying this report contains the revised Wealden Heaths 
Phase II Special Protection Area SPD that has been updated to reflect the 
comments received during the eight week public consultation period. 

2.0 Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel:
i. notes the content of the Consultation Statement (Appendix A of this 

report)
ii. notes the content of the Supplementary Planning Document 

(Appendix B of this report) and recommend it to Cabinet for 
consideration on the 5 July 2018. 



NON EXEMPT

3.0 Summary

3.1 This report and accompanying Appendices sets out a summary of the comments 
received during the eight week public consultation on the Draft Wealden Heaths 
Phase II Special Protection Area SPD that closed on the 19 March 2018 and any 
changes that have ben made to the final SPD (Appendix B).

3.2 The SPD provides guidance for applicants where development proposals will 
result in a net increase in residential development (including Traveller 
Accommodation) within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special 
Protection Area (SPA). It sets out the approach that the Council and the South 
Downs National Park Authority (SDNPA) will take to help meet the needs for 
residential uses where the need cannot be met solely outside of the 400 metre 
buffer zone (specifically Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 
accommodation and rural affordable housing exception sites).

4.0 Subject of Report

4.1 The Draft Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area SPD was subject to 
Public Consultation between 22nd January 2018 and 19th March 2018. During the 
public consultation period 23 responses were received and these are detailed in 
the Consultation Statement (Appendix A). 

4.2 Responses were received from a number of statutory consultees, although only 
three organisations provided detailed comments on the consultation document 
which are summarised below:

 Hampshire and IOW Wildlife Trust: Consider a more restrictive approach to 
residential development within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special 
Protection Area should be applied. 

 Natural England: No objection to safeguarding. Consider that the safeguarded 
capacity should only be used if the acompanying HRA demonstrates that the 
this need can not be met outside the 400m zone.

 Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB): Consider a more restrictive 
approach to residential development within 400m of the Wealden Heaths 
Phase II Special Protection Area should be applied. 

4.3 In addition, responses were received from four Parish Councils, local groups / 
societies and individuals. The key response themes are summarised below: 

 Concern that the SPD does not provide appropriate protection for the SPA



NON EXEMPT

 There should be a prohibition on net new dwellings within the 400m zone
 Brownfield sites should be developed first rather than land within 400m of the 

SPA
 Once 43 dwellings have been permitted no further residential development 

should be permitted
 The windfall allowance figure is too low
 Request for definitions of permanent plots and permanent pitches to be added 

to the glossary.

4.4 Following the public consultation the SPD has been revised (Appendix B of this 
report) where necessary to address issues raised during the consultation process 
and to correct some typographical errors. 

4.5 The table below provides an indicative timetable of the stages to be undertaken 
to adopt the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area SPD:
SPD to Cabinet 5 July 2018 
SPD to Council for Adoption 20 September 2018
 

4.6 Upon adoption the Supplementary Planning Document will form part of the 
Planning Policy Framework for whole of East Hampshire District including those 
parts within the South Downs National Park Authority area. 

5.0 Implications 

5.1 Resources:  There are no direct resource implications. Costs will be met within 
existing resources and budgets.

5.2 Legal:  There are legal issues to consider in progressing the SPD towards 
adoption, in relation to satisfying the necessary regulations. The SPD will be 
produced in compliance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012. 

5.3 Strategy: The Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area SPD, when 
adopted, will form part of the planning Policy Framework for the District.

5.4 Risks: There is the potential for a third party to legally challenge the SPD within 
a three month period following adoption. However, the SPD has been produced 
in compliance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012.

5.5 Communications: The draft SPD was subject to eight weeks public consultation 
which exceeds the minimum requirements of the Councils Statement of 
Community Involvement and those set out in Regulation 12 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  



NON EXEMPT

Appendices:

Appendix A – Consultation Statement: Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection 
Area Supplementary Planning Document
Appendix B – East Hampshire Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area 
Supplementary Planning Document

Background Papers:

Agreed and signed off by:

Head of Planning: Simon Jenkins (Signed off XX.XX.18)
Legal Services: Sara Bryan (Signed off XX.XX.18)
Finance: Andy Miles (Signed off XX.XX.18)
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Angela Glass (Signed off XX.XX.18)

Contact Officer: Ian Mawer
Job Title:       Planning Policy Team Leader 
Telephone:       01730 234152
E-Mail:       ian.mawer@easthants.gov.uk



1

The East Hampshire District Local Plan: Draft Joint Wealden Heaths Phase II 
Special Protection Area

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Regulation 12 Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012 

Persons consulted when preparing the supplementary planning document 

The Draft Wealden Heaths Special Protection Area SPD was subject to public consultation 
for a period of 8 weeks between 22 January 2018 and 19 March 2018. Copies of the draft 
document and supporting information (namely a Strategic Environmental Assessment and 
Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening, Equalities Impact Assessment and the 
Statement of Matters and Availability (see Appendix 1) were made available to view at the 
following locations during opening hours: 

 East Hampshire District Council Offices
 Alton Information Office
 Bordon Information Office
 Bramshott and Liphook Parish Office
 Horndean Parish Office
 Alton Library 
 Bordon Library
 Horndean Library 
 Liphook Library 
 Petersfield Library

The SPD and supporting information was also made available to view online at:
https://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy-consultations
https://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-wealden-heaths-phase-ii-special-protection-area-spd 
(see Appendix 2 and Appendix 3). 

Representations were invited via our online consultation portal, post or via email. 

Documents available on the Council’s Local Plan Consultation Portal  
The Draft SPD was available to view online using our consultation portal. The portal enables 
users to submit comments on the document as they read it. The consultation portal can be 
accessed from the following link:
https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/

Consultation letters and emails 
The Council notified all registered members on the East Hampshire District Local Plan 
consultation database. The database covers a wide range of stakeholders including local 
residents, businesses, and statutory bodies. In total, there are approximately 1,100 contacts 

https://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy-consultations
https://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-wealden-heaths-phase-ii-special-protection-area-spd
https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/


2

on the database. The majority of members were contacted via email (see Appendix 4) and 
those without an email address were contacted via post (see Appendix 5). 

Documents available on the Council’s website 
Copies of the Consultation Draft SPD, the Statement of SPD Matters and Availability, the 
Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening 
Assessment; and Equalities Impact Assessment were made available to view/download on 
the Council’s website at:
https://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-wealden-heaths-phase-ii-special-protection-area-spd

Summary of the main issues raised by those persons 
A total of 23 individuals and organisations responded to the draft SPD. The comments made 
are summarised in the schedule attached as Appendix 6. 

Responses were received from a number of statutory consultees, although only three 
organisations provided detailed comments on the consultation document which are 
summarised below:

 Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust: Consider a more restrictive approach to 
residential development within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special 
Protection Area should be applied. 

 Natural England: No objection to safeguarding. Consider that the safeguarded 
capacity should only be used if the acompanying HRA demonstrates that the this 
need can not be met outside the 400m zone.

 Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB): Consider a more restrictive 
approach to residential development within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase II 
Special Protection Area should be applied. 

In addition, responses were received from four Parish Councils, local groups / societies and 
individuals. The key response themes are summarised below: 

 Concern that the SPD does not provide appropriate protection for the SPA
 There should be a prohibition on net new dwellings within the 400m zone
 Brownfield sites should be developed first rather than land within 400m of the SPA
 Once 43 dwellings have been permitted no further residential development should be 

permitted
 The windfall allowance figure is too low
  Request for definitions of permanent plots and permanent pitches to be added to the 

glossary.

https://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-wealden-heaths-phase-ii-special-protection-area-spd


3

How those issues have been addressed in the supplementary planning document 
The Officer comments relating to these concerns and how they have been addressed in the 
final version of the SPD can be found in Appendix 6.



4

Appendix 1: Statement of SPD Matters and Availability 



5



6

Appendix 2: Planning Policy Consultation Webpage 



7

Appendix 3: Draft Joint Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area
Planning Document Webpage 



8

Appendix 4: Email to Consultees  

Email subject: Consultation Draft Joint Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area 
Supplementary Planning Document

Dear Sir/Madam,

We are contacting you to inform you that East Hampshire District Council is currently 
consulting on the Draft Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area (SPA) 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The document provides guidance for applicants 
where development proposals will result in a net increase in residential development 
(including Traveller Accommodation) within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II 
Special Protection Area (SPA). 

The document sets out the approach that the Council and the South Downs National Park 
Authority (SDNPA) will take to help meet the needs for residential uses where the need 
cannot be met solely outside of the 400 metre buffer zone. It also sets out the circumstances 
when planning permission is likely to be refused for development within 400 metres of the 
Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA.

We would therefore welcome your comments on the Consultation Draft Supplementary 
Planning Documents. The eight week consultation period will commence on Monday 22 
January 2018 and close at 5pm Monday 19 March 2018.

Full details of the consultations and all the supporting documents, can be found on our 
website: http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation

In addition, local libraries and information centres within East Hampshire District will be 
supplied with copies of the following consultation documents:

 Consultation Draft Vehicle Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA SPD 
 Statement of SPD Matters and Availability for the SPD
 Equalities Impact Assessment Scoping Assessment for the SPD 
 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitats Regulations Assessment 

(HRA) Screening for the SPD

Representations to the consultation can be made in writing using one of the following 
methods:

Through our online portal:  http://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/

By email:  localplan@easthants.gov.uk 

http://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/
mailto:localplan@easthants.gov.uk


9

By writing in person to:

Planning Policy
East Hampshire District Council,
Penns Place,
Petersfield, 
Hampshire, GU31 4EX

Please note that the comments received during this consultation cannot be treated as 
confidential. Responses will be published on the Council’s website, together with the name 
and/or organisation name of the respondent.

Only those representations that are made in writing and are received by the Council 
within the eight week period ending at 5pm on Monday 19 March 2018 will be 
considered. 

If you would like any more information on the Consultation draft Wealden Heaths Phase II 
SPA SPD, then please contact the Planning Policy team on 01730 234280 or visit the 
Council’s website at http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation

Yours faithfully,

Victoria Potts

Planning Policy Manager

Victoria.potts@easthants.gov.uk 

mailto:Victoria.potts@easthants.gov.uk


10

Appendix 5: Letter to Consultees  

Dear Sir / Madam 

Consultation Draft Supplementary Planning Documents

We are writing to inform you that East Hampshire District Council is currently consulting on 
the Draft Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area (SPA) Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD). The document:

 provides guidance for applicants where development proposals will result in a net 
increase in residential development (including Traveller Accommodation) within 400 
metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area (SPA). 

 sets out the approach that the Council and the South Downs National Park Authority 
(SDNPA) will take to help meet the needs for residential uses where the need cannot 
be met solely outside of the 400 metre buffer zone.

 sets out the circumstances when planning permission is likely to be refused for 
development within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA.

We would therefore welcome your comments on the Consultation Draft Supplementary 
Planning Documents. The eight week consultation period will commence on Monday 22 
January 2018 and close at 5pm Monday 19 March 2018.

Full details of the consultations and all the supporting documents, can be found on our 
website: http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation

In addition, local libraries and information centres within East Hampshire District will be 
supplied with copies of the following consultation documents:

 Consultation Draft Vehicle Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA SPD 
 Statement of SPD Matters and Availability for the SPD
 Equalities Impact Assessment Scoping Assessment for the SPD 
 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitats Regulations Assessment 

(HRA) Screening for the SPD

Representations to the consultation can be made in writing using one of the following 
methods:

Through our online portal:  http://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/

By email:  localplan@easthants.gov.uk 

By writing in person to:
Planning Policy
East Hampshire District Council,
Penns Place,
Petersfield, 

http://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/
mailto:localplan@easthants.gov.uk


11

Hampshire, GU31 4EX

Please note that the comments received during this consultation cannot be treated as 
confidential. Responses will be published on the Council’s website, together with the name 
and/or organisation name of the respondent.

Only those representations that are made in writing and are received by the Council 
within the eight week period ending at 5pm on Monday 19 March 2018 will be 
considered. 

If you would like any more information on the Consultation draft Wealden Heaths Phase II 
SPA SPD, then please contact the Planning Policy team on 01730 234280 or visit the 
Council’s website at http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation

Yours faithfully,

Victoria Potts

Planning Policy Manager

Victoria.potts@easthants.gov.uk 

mailto:Victoria.potts@easthants.gov.uk


12

Appendix 6: Draft Joint Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning Document – Summary of 
Consultation Responses and Officer Comments

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

01 Neil Amos 
obo Marine 
Management 
Organisation

Formal response setting out what the Marine Management Organisation is, 
its licensing procedures, marine planning and minerals and waste plans.

Comments noted.  No change required.

02 Charlotte 
Mayall obo 
Southern 
Water

Southern Water have no comments to make on this occasion.
Noted no change.

03 Beata Ginn 
obo 
Highways 
England

Highways England have no comments.
Noted no change.

04 Mrs Jane 
Ives obo 
Greatham 
Parish 
Council

State that the Report is broadly acceptable but recommend further text is 
added to Section 2:

Sites where an HRA carried out under JCS policy CP22 finds that habitat 
or biodiversity of the SPA or local environment would be adversely affected 
will not be granted permission for development.

Comment noted.  Paragraph 2.21 sets 
out the requirements of Joint Core 
Stategy Policy CP22 and the need to 
undertake a project-specific HRA.  HRA 
is a step process which assesses likely 
significant effects.  If any likely 
significant effects cannot be avoided or 
mitigated, unless in exceptional 
circumstances whereby Imperative 
Reasons for Overriding Public Interest 
arise, a proposal would not be granted 
planning permission.  Therefore it is 
considered that paragraph 2.21 
adequately covers the concerns raised 
by Greatham Parish Council.

05 Simon Peck The SPD does not provide adequate protection for the Wealden Heaths 
Phase II SPA, particularly clauses 3.26, 3.27 and 3.28.  These clauses 

Comments noted.  The Supplementary 
Planning Document has been prepared 



13

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

should be amended to state that once the windfall allowance has been 
reached, no net increase in the number of dwellings within the 400 metre 
buffer zone should be permitted until a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment and a Habitats Regulations Assessment have been carried 
out.

to support the policies of the adopted 
Joint Core Strategy (JCS)  

JCS Policy CP22 requires the 
submission of a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment, paragraphs 3.26, 3.27 and 
3.28 will be amended as set out below:.

Change: Paragraph 3.26

 ….Once the windfall allowance has 
been reached, schemes will only be 
permitted when supported by a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment and, where 
necessary, an Appropriate Assessment 
which demonstrates that the 
development would not result in harm to 
the SPA, and that has been agreed by 
both the Competent Authority (the 
Council or the SDNPA) and Natural 
England. 

Change: Paragraph 3.27

 …..Once the windfall allowance has 
been reached, schemes will only be 
permitted when supported by a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment and, where 
necessary, an Appropriate Assessment 
that demonstrates that the development 
would not result in harm to the SPA, and 
that has been agreed by both the 
Competent Authority (the Council or the 



14

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

SDNPA) and Natural England. 

 Change: Paragraph 3.28

… supported by a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment and, where necessary, 
an Appropriate Assessment that 
demonstrates that the development 
would not result in harm to the SPA, and 
that has been agreed by the Competent 
Authority (the Council or the SDNPA) 
and Natural England.  If applications are 
permitted through this process, the net 
increase in dwellings would not count 
towards the total windfall allowance.

The draft SPD has gone through its own 
screening exercise for both HRA and 
SEA.

06 Pauline 
Holmes obo 
Natural 
England

1.Natural England welcomes the SPD.  However, whilst there is no 
objection for safeguarding the remaining windfall, encouragement should 
be given to place all residential development outside the 400 metres zone 
wherever possible.  Natural England advise that the SPD, section ‘Decision 
Taking’, should state that the safeguarding capacity should only be used if 
the accompanying HRA demonstrates that this need cannot be met outside 
of the 400 metres and will not have a likely significant effect alone and in 
combination.

2.Under ‘Decision Taking’ they also recommend that it should state that 
applications will be refused unless they can clearly demonstrate that there 
is an exceptional circumstance  where need cannot be met outside of the 
400 metres zone and that the application is supported with an Appropriate 

Comments noted.  Response as follows:

1.Paragraph 3.22 states that the 
safeguarded remaining allowance will be 
used to deliver residential uses where 
the need cannot be met solely outside of 
the 400 metre buffer zone (specifically 
Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople accommodation and 
affordable housing) through plan making 
and decision taking.  It is therefore 
considered that  Natural England’s 
concerns  have been addressed in the 



15

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Assessment that concludes there will be no likely significant effect either 
alone and in combination with the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA and 
Woolmer Forest SAC.

SPD.

2. See (1) above.

 Grayshott 
Parish 
Council

Require some clarification as to the location of the 4 existing yards. The 
Parish Council believe the only official yard is Fairlands in Grayshott and 
the extension to the yard which is just over the border in Headley.

Comments noted.  The East Hampshire 
GTAA (2017) identifies 4 yards in the 
Grayshott/Headley area – Fairland 
Drive, Outlaw, Fairlands and Stallions of 
Sustance Lodge.

Interviews carried out at these yards has 
shown there is a need for further 
accommodation.

Any further expansion or new sites will 
require planning permission which will  
need to consider relevant material 
planning considerations.  Irrespective of 
planning permission, they will also need 
to meet the requirements of the Habitats 
Regulations.

08 Amanda 
Haddon-
Cave obo 
Grayshott 
Society 
Committee

Object to the proposals to increase development capacity within the 400 
metre buffer zone for the following reasons:

(a) Appendix B, difficult to interpret. 
(b) Paragraphs 3.26, 3.27 and 3.28 enable the approval of any 

application subject only to “Appropriate Assessment”.
(c) Unclear why Fairlands and its recent extension has been granted 

permission within the SPA Exclusion Zone and the Local Gap. 
(d) Instead of facilitating developments within the SPA Exclusion Zone 

we request that EHDC fully investigates alternative brownfield sites 
for both affordable housing and sites for travellers.

(e) Request EHDC takes appropriate steps to properly protect areas 

Comments noted.  Response relating to 
specific points as follows:

(a) The AECOM report was produced 
to further support the Joint Core 
Strategy.  It is a technical report 
providing evidence to explain how 
the original capacity increased 
from approximately 33 dwellings 
to approximately 43.



16

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA. (b) Any planning application within 
400 metres  of the SPA would 
need to meet the requirements of 
the Habitats Regulations but also 
be considered alongside relevant 
material planning considerations.

However, to ensure this is made 
clearer in the SPD the following 
amendment will be included to 
paragraphs 3.26, 3.27 and 3 (see 
bold below):

Change:

3.26 “Planning applications that have 
been tested through a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) and 
meet relevant material planning 
considerations for …….”

3.27 “Planning applications that have 
been tested through a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) and 
meet relevant material planning 
considerations  for rural …..”

3.28 “Planning applications for other 
forms of residential development that 
result in a net increase in residential 
dwellings within 400 metres of the 
Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA ….. will be 
refused, unless meeting relevant 



17

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

material planning considerations  and 
supported by a ….”

(c) The 400 metre buffer zone for the 
Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA is 
currently not an exclusion zone 
from development, therefore, both 
Fairlands and its extension were 
considered against Joint Core 
Strategy Policies CP22 and 
CP23. 

(d) As part of the Local Plan Review 
for those parts of the district 
outside of the South Downs 
National Park, the Council will be 
considering suitable sites for 
travellers and affordable housing.  
This will involve looking at 
suitable brownfield sites.

(e) Under the Habitats Regulations, 
the local authority is a Competent 
Authority whose role is to decide 
whether or not a plan or project 
can proceed having undertaken 
an appropriate assessment.  The 
Council’s role therefore is to 
protect the Wealden Heaths 
Phase II SPA.

09 West of 
Grayshott 

Object outright to the proposals contained within the consultation 
document as follows:

Comments noted.  Response in relation 
to specific points as follows:



18

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Residents 
Group

(a) The SPD document is unreadable.  It should be made clear what is 
proposed for our neighbourhood, areas involved, why such 
development is necessary within the SPA Exclusion Zone rather 
than on brownfield sites, how abuse of the approval process will be 
avoided and how our authorities propose to ensure that appropriate 
conditions are imposed and enforced.

(b) AECOM’s report confusing.
(c) Given the nature of the statistics in the AECOM report and 

incomprehensible policy descriptions, paragraphs 3.26, 3.27 and 
3.28 are ambiguous and unworkable.

(d) Question the legality of these proposals given the protection 
afforded to SPAs by UK and European Law.

(e) How were the need statistics calculated and when.  What is driving 
the need to expand these sites.

(a) The SPD sets out the approach 
the Council and the South Downs 
National Park Authority will take 
to help meet the needs for 
residential uses where the need 
cannot be met soley outside of 
the 400 metre buffer zone 
(specifically for Traveller 
Accommodation and rural 
affordable housing exception 
sites).

(b) The AECOM report was produced 
to further support the Joint Core 
Strategy.  It is a technical report 
providing evidence to explain how 
the original capacity increased 
from approximately 33 dwellings 
to approximately 43.

(c) The purpose of the SPD is to 
safeguard the remaining capacity 
within the 400 metres of the SPA 
for residential uses where the 
need cannot be met soley 
outside of the 400 metre buffer 
zone.

(d) The Wealden Heaths Phase II 
SPA (JCS Policy CP22) 
approach and evidence base 
was tested and examined at the 



19

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Local Plan examination, 
supported by Natural England 
and found to be sound by the 
Inspector.  The draft SPA is 
therefore applying Policy CP22 
but safeguarding the remaining 
capped windfall capacity to try 
and meet the accommodation 
needs of gypsies, travellers and 
travelling showpeople, and those 
with a need for affordable 
accommodation in rural areas.  

(e) National policy sets out the need 
for local planning authorities to 
identify and update annually a 
supply of specific deliverable 
sites for traveller 
accommodation.  The East 
Hampshire Gypsy, Traveller and 
Travelling Showpeople 
Accommodation Assessment 
(2017) sets out the need for East 
Hampshire District Council and 
the area of the district within 
South Downs National Park.

National policy also sets out that 
in rural areas local planning 
authorities should be responsive 
to local circumstances and plan 
housing development to reflect 
local needs, particularly 



20

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

affordable housing, including 
rural exception sites.

010 Denise Meek 
obo 
Bramshott & 
Liphook 
Parish 
Council

Agree that once the windfall allowance for either Gypsy, Traveller and 
Travelling Showpeople and rural affordable housing exception sites has 
been reached, any further development proposals would have to be 
subject of robust Appropriate Assessments.

Note the reference to Neighbourhood Development Plans under section 
3.25 and welcome the opportunity in working with EHDC in assessing the 
allocation of sites for development which could potentially include sites for 
this type of accommodation outside the 400 metre buffer zone of the SPA.

Comments noted.  No change.

011 Martin Small 
obo Historic 
England

Historic England have no comments on the document. Noted no change.

012 John Childs Response summarised as follows:

(a) AECOM report - Object to the uplift on the grounds of lack of 
credible methodology.

(b) Have no objection to the proposals set out in paragraphs 3.26 and 
3.27.

(c) Agree with the conclusion in Appendix B Section 4.
(d) Object to the proposal at paragraph 3.28 which assumes other 

forms of residential development may be granted once the windfall 
cap has been reached.  There should be a prohibition on any form 
of development beyond the windfall cap.

Comments noted.  Response to specific 
points as follows:

(a) The AECOM report was produced 
to further support the Joint Core 
Strategy.  It is a technical report 
which has the support from 
Natural England.

(b) Noted comment.

(c) Noted comment.

(d) Regarding the 44th dwelling, once 
the total has been reached schemes 
will only be permitted when 
supported by a HRA and, where 
necessary, an Appropriate 



21

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Assessment which demonstrates that 
the development would not result in 
harm to the SPA.

013 Eric Croft What type of site for Gypsies and Travellers is being referred to?  Is there a 
permanent need, mobile homes or temporary sites? 

Paragraph 3.28, the final sentence is unacceptable.  Why should it not be 
included as an allocation?

Comments noted.

The East Hampshire GTAA (2017) 
identifies the need for permanent gypsy, 
traveller and travelling showpeople 
accommodation.  This equates to both 
pitches (gypsies and travellers) and plots 
(travelling showpeople).

As part of the Plan making process 
evidence demonstrated that a small 
increase in windfall dwellings (43 
dwellings) within 400m would not result 
in significant harm to the Wealden 
Heaths Phase II SPA. 

In instances where either the Habitats 
Regulation Assessment and where 
necessesary Appropriate Assessment 
demonstrate that a development would 
not result in harm to the SPA, the 
dwellings provided by the development 
do not need to be counted towards the 
windfall allowance..

014 Anna Budge 
obo National 
Trust

The Trust has reviewed the draft SPD and supports the approach being 
advocated through the document of the slight increase in dwellings allowed 
within the 400 metre zone of the SPA but only for rural affordable housing 

Support noted.



22

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

exception sites and gypsy, traveller and travelling showpeople 
accommodation.

015 Damian 
Sullivan obo 
Thakeham

Whilst it is recognised that there is environmental data to support this 
overall approach, this figure is considered too low and means that the SPD 
has not been positively prepared.

Comment noted.  The whole concept 
behind the draft SPD is to positively plan 
to meet the needs of gypsies, travellers 
and travelling showpople and those with 
a need for affordable accommodation in 
rural areas in the district.

016 Trevor 
Codlin obo 
Hampshire 
and Isle of 
Wight 
Wildlife Trust

It is felt that whilst the quantum of housing around the SPA is lower than 
the Thames Basin and Dorset Heaths, adverse impacts resulting from 
increased recreational pressure on healthland sites are well documented.  
Any increase in the number of residents within the 400 m ‘zone of 
influence’ around the Wealden Heaths SPA is likely to increase adverse 
impacts in the long term.

Would consider that a consistent and strategic approach to mitigating 
recreational impacts on the Wealden Heaths, in line with that adopted 
around the Dorset and Thames Basin Heaths should be adopted.

Comments noted.  The Wealden Heaths 
Phase II SPA (JCS Policy CP22) 
approach and evidence base was tested 
and examined at the Local Plan 
examination, supported by Natural 
England and found to be sound by the 
Inspector.  The draft SPA is therefore 
applying CP22 but safeguarding the 
remaining capped windfall to try and 
meet the accommodation needs of 
gypsies, travellers and travelling 
showpeople, and those with a need for 
affordable accommodation in rural 
areas.  The quantum of housing is not 
increasing within the 400 metres since 
that adopted in the Joint Core Strategy.

017 Ms K Else 
obo 
Claremont 
Planning 
Consultancy

The SPA, given its size, should be treated in the same manner as Dorest 
Heathlands and the Thames Basin Heaths SPAs for example a total 
prohibition on net new dwellings within the 400 metre buffer zone should 
be applied.  There are plenty of alternative sites available within the local 
area and surrounding authorities such as our clients site that can 
accommodate this growth.

Comment noted.  Thames Basin Heaths 
is in an urban area whereby the 
Wealden Heaths are rural heathlands.  
EHDC worked throughout the Joint Core 
Strategy with Natural England to find a 
sound solution and policy.



23

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Paragraph 3.21 states the purpose of 
the SPD which is to safeguarded sites 
which will only be considered where the 
need cannot solely be met outside of the 
400 metre buffer zone.

018 J Derhune Request that no more development is permitted in this area.  There is 
already too much development in Liphook.

Comment noted.  Only planning 
applications which are supported by a 
Habitats Regulations Assessment and 
meet all material planning considerations 
will be considered.

019 Heather 
Richards 
obo RSPB

The draft SPD and its approach to the protection of the Wealden Heaths 
Phase II SPA fails to take proper account of the well-documented and 
widely-accepted evidence base demonstrating the detrimental and 
unmitigateable effects of increased new housing within 400 m of 
heathlands; Neither does the SPD or its supporting documents set out a 
case for any exceptional circumstances which would prevent such 
evidence from applying in East Hants and the SDNP; The SPD relies on 
demonstrably flawed and incomplete assessments; The resulting approach 
is contrary to the strict protection regime set out under the Habitats 
Regulations, and at odds with the policy approaches adopted in respect of 
comparable heathland SPAs elsewhere in southern England.

Comments noted.  The Wealden Heaths 
Phase II SPA (JCS Policy CP22) 
approach and evidence base was tested 
and examined at the Local Plan 
examination, supported by Natural 
England and found to be sound by the 
Inspector.  The draft SPA is therefore 
applying Policy CP22 but safeguarding 
the remaining capped windfall capacity 
to try and meet the accommodation 
needs of gypsies, travellers and 
travelling showpeople, and those with a 
need for affordable accommodation in 
rural areas.  

020 Greatham 
Voice

Representations with respect to the SPD are consistent with our 
representations for the SDNP Local Plan.  In summary, we have serious 
concerns regarding the soundness of a number of strategic policies, their 
associated evidence base and the Sustainability Appraisal.  Furthermore, 
we have in principle objections to the proposed site allocations and their 
associated policies within the village of Greatham.  

Comments noted but unclear regarding 
concerns in Section 3.1. This pargraph is 
about the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA 
and not the need for gypsy, traveller and 
travelling showpeople.



24

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

In particular, with regards the SPD, we believe that further justification and 
sound evidence is required in order to meet the tests of soundness in 
Section 3.1 Need for gypsy, traveller and travelling showpeople 
accommodation – see section 5 Policy SD33. 

021 West of 
Grayshott 
Group

May we have a clear definition of the following terms:  “travelling 
showpeople yards”; “permanent plots” and “permanent pitches”.

Comments noted.  The requested 
definitions will be added to the glossary:

Change: Yard – A name often used by 
Travelling Showpeople to refer to a site.

Change: Permanent pitch/plot – Area of 
land on a site/development generally 
home to one household.  Has permanent 
permission and can vary in sizes and 
have varying number caravan numbers.  
Pitches refer to Gypsy and Traveller 
sites and Plots to Travelling 
Showpeople.

022 Roger 
Hutton

It is not clear why 43 dwellings should be the limit.  Further it would not be 
reasonable for the 44th plot to require a full Appropriate Assessment.

Para 3.26 notes that once the windfall limit has been reached projects will 
be required to submit an Appropriate Assessment.  This is contrary to the 
requirements of JCS Policy CP22 which requires the submission of a 
Habitats Regulations Assessment.

Amend paragraph 3.26, last paragraph, to read – “Once the windfall 
allowance has been reached schemes will only be permitted when 
supported by a Habitats Regulations Assessment and, where necessary, 
an Appropriate Assessment which demonstrates that the development 

Comments noted.  

The original windfall allowance 
(approximately 33 dwellings) was set out 
in the JCS HRA, this was further revised 
to approximately 43 dwellings total 
windfall allowance in the AECOM report.  
Regarding the 44th dwelling, once the 
total has been reached schemes will 
only be permitted when supported by a 
HRA and, where necessary, an 
Appropriate Assessment which 



25

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

would not result in harm to the SPA, and that has been agreed by ((omit 
both)) the Competent Authority (the Council and SDNP) in consultation 
with Natural England.

For consistency the same changes should be made to paras 3.27 and 
3.28.

demonstrates that the development 
would not result in harm to the SPA.

In line with JCS Policy CP22 which 
requires the submission of a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment, paragraphs 
3.26, 3.27 and 3.28 will be amended 
accordingly.

Change: Paragraph 3.26

….Once the windfall allowance has 
been reached, schemes will only be 
permitted when supported by a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment and, where 
necessary, an Appropriate Assessment 
which demonstrates that the 
development would not result in harm to 
the SPA, and that has been agreed by  
the Competent Authority (the Council or 
the SDNPA) in consultation with Natural 
England. 

Paragraph 3.27

…Once the windfall allowance has been 
reached, schemes will only be permitted 
when supported by a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment and, where 
necessary, an Appropriate Assessment 
that demonstrates that the development 
would not result in harm to the SPA, and 
that has been agreed by the Competent 



26

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Authority (the Council or the SDNPA) in 
consultation with Natural England. 

Paragraph 3.28

...supported by a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment and, where necessary, 
an Appropriate Assessment that 
demonstrates that the development 
would not result in harm to the SPA, and 
that has been agreed by the Competent 
Authority (the Council or the SDNPA) in 
consultation with Natural England.  If 
applications are permitted through this 
process, the net increase in dwellings 
would not count towards the total 
windfall allowance.

023 Tanya 
Hampshire 
obo Headley 
Parish 
Council

Note paragraph 2.19, where the Travellers Assessment for Hampshire 
2013 recommends at least 6 plots for Travelling Showpeople on sites 
within or outside East Hampshire.  Assuming that permission 27016/004 is 
within the 400 metre buffer zone, does this satisfy the requirement for 6 
plots?

Question whether SHLAA Site HEA021 (paragraph 3.12) is actually within 
the 400 metre buffer zone.

Affordable Housing Need – Land at head of The Paddocks and the 
Headley Nurseries site, are within the 400 m buffer zone.  They are not 
shown on the Appendix A map as being within the zone.

Decision Taking – Once the 43 dwelling windfall allowance has been 

Although the Policy states at least 6 
plots for Travelling Showpeople, the 
Council’s updated GTAA (2017) sets out 
a need for 32 plots for Travelling 
Showpeople from 2017 to 2036 in the 
part of the district outside the South 
Downs National Park.

Reference to SHLAA Site HEA021 is a 
typo and should be removed from 
paragraph 3.12.

Change:



27

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

reached, presumably even single infill dwellings will be refused once this 
limit is reached.  We appreciate the limit has to be drawn somewhere but 
to require an Assessment for single dwellings within Settlement Policy 
boundaries is an onerous requirement.

3.12 to read “It is important to note, that 
within the district it has historically been 
very difficult to find sites to allocate for 
Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople accommodation.”

To confirm Land at head of The 
Paddocks and the Headley Nurseries 
site are both outside the 400 metre 
buffer zone but within the 5km zone, 
therefore  they are not shown on 
Appendix A map.

Decision Taking – Regarding the 44th 
dwelling, once the total has been 
reached, in accordance with legisaltion 
schemes will only be permitted when 
supported by a HRA and, where 
necessary, an Appropriate Assessment 
which demonstrates that the 
development would not result in harm to 
the SPA.





And 

The East Hampshire District Local Plan

‘Joint Wealden Heaths Phase II 
Special Protection Area’ 
Supplementary Planning 

Document

April 2018 



2

CONTENT
PAGE NO.

1.0 INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................4

WHAT IS A SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD)?...........................................................................................4
WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THIS SPD?..........................................................................................................................4
NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT ......................................................................................................................................4
LOCAL POLICY CONTEXT............................................................................................................................................5

2.0 WHY SAFEGUARD THE REMAINING CAPACITY? ..................................................................................6

NEED FOR GYPSY, TRAVELLER AND TRAVELLING SHOWPEOPLE ACCOMMODATION................................................................8
AFFORDABLE HOUSING NEED ....................................................................................................................................9
SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE .........................................................................................................................................11
POLICY APPROACH.................................................................................................................................................11
PLAN MAKING.......................................................................................................................................................11
DECISION TAKING ..................................................................................................................................................11

3.0 GLOSSARY........................................................................................................................................13

4.0 APPENDIX A – MAP SHOWING THE LOCATION OF THE WEALDEN HEATHS PHASE II SPA AND ITS 400 
METRE BUFFER ZONE ......................................................................................................................16

5.0 APPENDIX B – POTENTIAL FOR ALTERING THE NUMBER OF NEW DWELLINGS ALLOWED WITHIN 
400M OF THE WEALDEN HEATHS PHASE 2 SPA (NOVEMBER 2015)..................................................17

LIMITATIONS ........................................................................................................................................................19
1  SCOPE .............................................................................................................................................................20
2  BACKGROUND ...................................................................................................................................................20
3  CLARIFYING THE TOTAL CURRENT HOUSING STOCK WITHIN 400M OF THE SPA ...............................................................21
4  VALIDITY OF INCLUDING GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITES ................................................................................................21
5  EXAMINING PRECEDENTS AROUND OTHER SPAS.......................................................................................................22
6  JUSTIFICATION FOR USING ‘APPROXIMATELY 30 DWELLINGS’ AS A CAP ON NEW HOUSING .................................................23
7  CONCLUSION.....................................................................................................................................................24



3

1.0 INTRODUCTION

What is a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)?

1.1 A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) elaborates upon policies in the 
Development Plan, in this instance the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint 
Core Strategy (JCS) 2011-2028 (adopted in June 2015).   SPDs are one of the 
material considerations that can be taken into account when determining a planning 
application.

1.2 This SPD elaborates upon the following East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy 
Policies:

 CP14: Affordable Housing in Rural Communities
 CP15: Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 
 CP22: Internationally Designated Sites

1.3 This SPD relates to the whole of East Hampshire District including those parts within 
the South Downs National Park Authority area. 

What is the purpose of this SPD?

1.4 The purpose of this Joint Supplementary Planning Document is to provide guidance 
for applicants where development proposals will result in a net increase in residential 
development (including Traveller Accommodation) within 400 metres of the Wealden 
Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area (SPA). 

1.5 It sets out the approach that the Council and the South Downs National Park 
Authority (SDNPA) will take to help meet the needs for residential uses where the 
need cannot be met solely outside of the 400 metre buffer zone (specifically Gypsy, 
Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation and rural affordable housing 
exception sites).

1.6 It also sets out the circumstances when planning permission is likely to be refused for 
development within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA.

1.7 Appendix A displays a map showing the location of the Wealden Heaths Phase II 
SPA and the 400 metre buffer zone. If you are unsure whether land that you have an 
interest in is located within the 400 metre buffer zone you can check using our online 
mapping system by selecting the Planning Policy Layers and selecting CP22 
Internationally Designated Sites. 

National Policy Context

National Planning Policy Framework

1.8 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out government planning 
policies that must be taken into account in the preparation of Local Plans and is a 
material consideration in planning decisions.  This SPD should be prepared in 
accordance with the policy context set out in the NPPF.

http://maps.easthants.gov.uk/easthampshire.aspx
http://maps.easthants.gov.uk/easthampshire.aspx


4

1.9 Paragraph 54 of the NPPF requires “…local planning authorities to be responsive to 
local circumstances and plan housing development to reflect local needs, particularly 
for affordable housing, including through rural exception sites where appropriate…”.

  
1.10 Paragraph 119 of the NPPF states that “The presumption in favour of sustainable 

development (paragraph 14) does not apply where development requiring 
appropriate assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directive is being considered, 
planned or determined.”   

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (August 2015)

1.11 The Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) sets out guidance for traveller sites 
and should be read in conjunction with the NPPF.

1.12 The PPTS states that “local planning authorities should, in producing Local Plans, 
identify and update annually, a supply of specific deliverable sites” (Policy B, 
Paragraph 10).

Local Policy Context

1.13 The East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (JCS) 2011-2028 was 
adopted in June 2014.  This was prepared in partnership with the South Downs 
National Park Authority. The following policies are of relevance to this SPD: 

Policy CP14 Affordable Housing for Rural Communities 

1.14 For decision making, Policy CP14 sets out specific criteria to allow affordable 
housing to be delivered outside of the defined settlement policy boundaries. The 
criteria include:

 that there is a proven local affordable housing need in the area; 
 that the development provides dwellings that will be available as affordable 

housing for local people in perpetuity; and
 within the SDNP – there is no conflict with National Park purposes.

1.15 For plan making the supporting text to the policy states that allocated affordable 
housing sites will be designated through the East Hampshire District Local Plan, the 
South Downs National Park Authority Local Plan or Neighbourhood Plans.

Policy CP15 Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople

1.16 Policy CP15 identifies the number of pitches and plots required to meet the 
accommodation needs of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople during the 
plan period. 

1.17 For decision making Policy CP15 sets out criteria that need to be satisfied for 
planning permission for permanent and transit sites for Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople to be granted. The criteria includes that the site:

 will meet a need as identified by the accommodation assessment;
 is located conveniently for access to schools, medical services and other 

community facilities; and
 is capable of accommodating the number of caravans/mobile homes proposed.



5

1.18 For plan making the policy states that provision will be made for permanent and 
transit pitches for Gypsy and Travellers and plots for Travelling Showpeople through 
the Local Plan: Allocations and the South Downs National Park Local Plan.

1.19 The Policy states that in allocating sites within the parts of the district outside of the 
South Downs National Park, the Council will seek to provide additional 
accommodation capacity as recommended by the Travellers Accommodation 
Assessment for Hampshire 2013:

 22 permanent pitches for Gypsies and Travellers within the Plan period, located 
within that part of the district north of the National Park;

 2 pitches on sites providing temporary short-term accommodation for Travellers in 
transit, within or outside East Hampshire and as early as possible within the Plan 
period;

 at least 6 plots for Travelling Showpeople on sites within or outside East 
Hampshire and as early as possible in the Plan period. 

1.20 However, in light of recent changes to National Policy, notably the PPTS, the Council 
and the SDNPA commissioned an updated Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) in 2017. The findings of the 
updated GTAA are discussed further in paragraphs 3.7 to 3.11. 

Policy CP22 Internationally Designated Sites

1.21 JCS Policy CP22 Internationally Designated Sites states that any new housing that is 
proposed within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA will be required to 
undertake a project-specific Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).  This is re-
iterated in its supporting paragraph 7.24.  

1.22 The evidence base that supported JCS Policy CP22 is the JCS Habitats Regulations 
Assessment – Appropriate Assessment Report (July 2013)1, with Chapter 6 
specifically relating to the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA.

1.23 The SDNPA are currently preparing a new Local Plan, and in future any review of the 
EHDC documents will mean that the SPD will need to be updated accordingly. 

2.0 WHY SAFEGUARD THE REMAINING CAPACITY? 

2.1 The Wealden Heaths Phase II is made up of four separate Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSIs) and qualified as a Special Protection Area for its breeding bird 
species. In 1998 the area was classified as a Natura 2000 site.  It is protected from 
adverse impact under the EC Habitats Directive which is interpreted into British law 
by the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations.  

2.2 As part of plan making and to meet the requirements of the Habitats Regulations, the 
Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy HRA included an analysis of the number of dwellings 
that were likely to be delivered in East Hampshire (including the part covering the 
South Downs National Park) over the plan period until 2028 to assess if there was 
likely to be a significant adverse effect on a Natura 2000 site.  This was based on a 
statistical analysis and considered that approximately 33 windfall dwellings 

1 http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CoreStrategyAAJuly2013.pdf

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CoreStrategyAAJuly2013.pdf
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CoreStrategyAAJuly2013.pdf
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CoreStrategyAAJuly2013.pdf


6

(cumulatively and on schemes of 5 or less dwellings) could be expected to come 
forward during the plan period and would be unlikely to have an impact on the SPA.
  

2.3 However, monitoring of the early years of the plan period has demonstrated that a 
significant number of windfall schemes for dwellings have been granted planning 
permission within the 400 metre buffer zone. Therefore, in 2015 with the support from 
Natural England, East Hampshire District Council commissioned work to reassess 
the windfall allowance within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA using 
an updated methodology.  The results of this work demonstrated that the windfall 
allowance could be increased to 43 dwellings. Appendix B of this document sets out 
the methodology and findings of this further work. The findings have been agreed by 
Natural England.

2.4 However, it is important to note that a significant proportion of this windfall allowance 
(27 dwellings) has already been used. In addition, the Pre Submission South Downs 
National Park Local Plan (September 2017) allocates the site known as Land at Fern 
Farm (Allocation Policy SD74) for 4 permanent Gypsy and Traveller Pitches within 
400m of the SPA. Figure 1 below demonstrates the capacity used or committed 
against the windfall allowance.

Figure 1: Cumulative planning permissions granted and SDNPA Local Plan 
allocations within 400 metres of the SPA since May 2014

*partial years monitoring data for 2017/18. A single dwelling received consent between 1st April 2017 
and 16 January 2018. 

2.5 Figure 1 demonstrates that as of the 16 January 2018, there is currently capacity for 
an additional 12 dwellings to be accommodated within the 400 metres buffer of the 
Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA up until 2028.  



7

Need for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation

2.6 Within East Hampshire District there are currently 26 known Gypsy and Traveller 
pitches and 32 known Travelling Showpeople plots and a significant proportion of this 
accommodation is located within the 400 metre SPA buffer zone as reflected by 
Table 1 overleaf.

Table 1: Existing Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation in 
the district

Site 
requirements

Number of existing 
pitches/plots in 
East Hampshire 

District

Number of existing 
pitches/plots within 
400 metres of the 

SPA

Proportion of 
pitches/plots in the 
district within 400 
metres of the SPA

Gypsy and 
Traveller 
Pitches

26 15 58%

Travelling 
Showpeople 
Plots

32 30 94%

2.7 The recently published Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) (2017) identifies that the need for accommodation for Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople has increased since the production of the 
previous GTAA (2013) that informed the Joint Core Strategy.

2.8 The recent findings show that the overall level of additional need for those 
households who meet the planning definition of a Gypsy or Traveller is for 25 pitches 
in East Hampshire District Council area, and a further 2 pitches in the area of the 
district falling within South Downs National Park, over the GTAA period (2017 – 
2036). This overall need is made up of households living within other households, 
who are unable to set up separate family units (known as concealed households), 
where there are more than the permitted number of caravans on a pitch (doubling-
up), those wishing to move from bricks and mortar, from teenage children in need of 
a pitch of their own in the next five years, from in-migration and from new household 
formation.  

2.9 The GTAA (2017) findings also show that the overall level of additional need for 
those households who meet the planning definition of a Travelling Showperson is for 
31 additional plots in East Hampshire District Council area, and a further 9 plots in 
the area of the district falling within South Downs National Park, over the GTAA 
period (2017 – 2036). This overall need is made up of concealed families or adults, 
older teenage children who are in need of a plot of their own in the next five years 
and new household formation.

2.10 A number of known existing pitches and plots already lie within the 400 metre SPA 
buffer which fall in the Parishes of Greatham, Grayshott and Bramshott & Liphook.  
Table 2 overleaf sets out the number of sites/yards in each of these Parishes; the 
future need for pitches/plots generated from these known existing sites; and identifies 
if there is any scope for intensifying or expanding these existing sites:



8

Table 2: Summary of known existing Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople accommodation, future need, and scope for 
intensifying/expanding existing sites within 400 metres of the Wealden 
Heaths Phase II SPA buffer

Parish Existing number 
of sites/yards in 
the 400 metre SPA 
buffer

Future need for 
pitches / plots 
generated from 
existing sites 
within the 400 
metres SPA 
buffer (source: 
GTAA 2017)

Scope for 
intensification / 
expansion of 
existing sites within 
the 400 metre SPA 
buffer

Greatham 1 gypsy and 
traveller site 

Approximately 4 
permanent 
pitches required. 

The SDNP Local 
Plan proposes to 
allocate 2 temporary 
pitches to permanent 
and provide a further 
2 new permanent 
pitches on a site in 
Greatham2

Grayshott 4 travelling 
showpeople yards 

Approximately 19 
permanent plots 
required.

2 yards may have 
the potential to 
intensify/expand (this 
includes vacancies).  

Bramshott & 
Liphook

6 gypsy and 
traveller sites &
1 travelling 
showpeople yard 

Approximately 6 
permanent 
pitches required 
for gypsy and 
travellers.  

4 sites may have the 
potential to 
intensify/expand (this 
includes vacancies).

2.11 The table above demonstrates that there is a need for approximately 10 additional 
pitches and  19 plots generated from families located on established gypsy, traveller 
and travelling showpeople sites/yards located within the 400 metre buffer zone and 
that there is the potential to expand 7 of the existing sites/yards to help meet the 
need in these locations. 

2.12 It is important to note, that within the district it has historically been very difficult to 
find sites to allocate for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation.

2.13 The above evidence demonstrates that without safeguarding some of the remaining 
windfall allowance within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA for Gypsy, 
Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation, the ability of both planning 
authorities to meet the districts identified needs for such accommodation will be 
constrained.  

Affordable Housing Need 

2 The South Downs National Park Local Plan proposes to allocate 4 permanent pitches at Fern Farm, Greatham 
(currently the site has permission for 2 temporary pitches).



9

2.14 East Hampshire District has high property prices and therefore affordability of homes 
is an issue in the district with the SHMA (2013) identifying that the house prices in the 
district were at 9.99 times median earnings at the time of publication. In addition, the 
high level of affordable housing need is documented in the Inspectors Report into the 
Joint Core Strategy (paragraph 24). 

2.15 Whilst Joint Core Strategy Policy CP14 requires residential developments to provide 
affordable housing provision at either 35% or 40% dependant upon location, there 
are some locations within the district where this policy will not meet local affordable 
housing needs. 

2.16 There are a number of parishes in the district where there is insufficient existing or 
planned provision of affordable housing to meet the needs of those people on the 
affordable housing register (Hampshire Home Choice) that have a local connection to 
a particular parish. Therefore Policy CP14 of the Joint Core Strategy provides the 
mechanism for delivering rural exception sites in these locations to deliver affordable 
housing. 

2.17 Within the district the parishes of Headley and Liss are two parishes that are located 
partially within the 400 metre SPA buffer zone that currently have a local connection 
affordable housing need that exceeds the future supply of affordable housing 
(allocations and planning permissions) as demonstrated by Table 3 overleaf.

Table 3: Summary of Affordable Housing Need in the Parishes of Headley 
and Liss.

Settlement 
(Parish)

Local 
Connection 
Need
(Dec 2016)

Allocations / 
permissions for 
affordable housing 

Shortfall 

Headley 62 Up to 53. 57

Liss 98 Up to 664 37

2.18 East Hampshire District Council recently undertook a call for sites for those parts of 
the district outside of the South Downs National Park. Through the call for sites, two 
sites have been promoted in the parish of Headley for consideration through the plan 
making process as potential rural exception sites. However, both of these sites are 
located within the 400 metre SPA buffer zone. 

2.19 The above evidence demonstrates that without safeguarding some of the remaining 
capacity within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA for rural exception 
affordable housing, the ability of both planning authorities to meet the locally 
identified needs for such accommodation will be constrained.  

3 Policy VL3 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations allocates a site for 
12 dwellings. Assuming that the development delivers 40% affordable housing, up to 5 affordable dwellings 
could be delivered at this site.
4 Policy Liss 8 of the Liss Neighbourhood Plan allocates six sites to provide approximately 165 dwellings. 
Assuming that all of these sites are delivered and provide 40% affordable housing would generate 66 
affordable dwellings.



10

Summary of evidence 

2.20 It is clear that from the above evidence that the capacity for additional dwellings 
within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area has been 
used up considerably faster than anticipated at the time the Joint Core Strategy was 
prepared. The evidence indicates that both planning authorities need to provide 
additional accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople and to 
meet local affordable housing needs. The evidence also indicates that in order to 
meet some of this need, development within the 400 metre buffer zone is going to be 
required. 

Policy Approach

2.21 The purpose of this SPD is to safeguard the Special Protection Area (protected under 
the EC Habitats Directive) remaining windfall allowance within 400 metres of the 
Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople accommodation and rural exception affordable housing only as the need 
for these uses cannot be solely met outside of the 400 metre buffer zone.  Any 
development proposed within the 400 metre buffer zone will need to be tested 
through a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). 

2.22 This safeguarded remaining allowance will be used to deliver residential uses where 
the need cannot be met solely outside of the 400 metre buffer zone (specifically 
Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation and affordable housing) 
through plan making and decision taking. 

Plan making 

2.23 East Hampshire District Council is currently working on its Local Plan which will 
include residential allocations for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 
accommodation and rural affordable housing exception sites for those parts of the 
district outside of the SDNPA.  As detailed above, to meet identified needs, the 
planning authorities will be seeking to allocate sites for such uses through their 
emerging Local Plans.

2.24 The South Downs National Park Authority has recently undertaken an 8 week 
consultation on their Regulation 19 Pre-Submission Local Plan (2014 – 2033). The 
plan includes an allocation for 4 permanent gypsy pitches at Fern Farm, Greatham 
which is located within the 400 metre buffer zone of the Wealden Heaths Phase II 
SPA. 

2.25 There are a number of Neighbourhood Plans in preparation across the district where 
the community may decide to allocate sites for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople accommodation and rural affordable housing exception sites.

Decision Taking  

Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation

2.26 Planning applications that have been tested through a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) and meet relevant material planning considerations for Gypsy, 
Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation that result in a net increase in 
residential dwellings within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA in East 



11

Hampshire District (including the area within South Downs National Park) will be 
approved until such a time that the 43 dwelling total windfall allowance is reached. 
Once the windfall allowance has been reached, schemes will only be permitted when 
supported by a Habitats Regulations Assessment and, where necessary, an 
Appropriate Assessment which demonstrates that the development would not result 
in harm to the SPA, and that has been agreed by the Competent Authority (the 
Council or the SDNPA) in consultation with Natural England. 

Rural affordable housing exception sites

2.27 Planning applications that have been tested through a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) and meet relevant material planning considerations for rural 
affordable housing exception sites that result in a net increase in residential dwellings 
within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA in East Hampshire District 
(including the area within South Downs National Park) will be approved until such a 
time that the 43 dwelling total windfall allowance is reached. Once the windfall 
allowance has been reached, schemes will only be permitted when supported by a 
Habitats Regulations Assessment and, where necessary, an Appropriate 
Assessment that demonstrates that the development would not result in harm to the 
SPA, and that has been agreed by the Competent Authority (the Council or the 
SDNPA) in consultation with Natural England. 

Other forms of residential development

2.28 Planning applications for other forms of residential development that result in a net 
increase in residential dwellings within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II 
SPA in East Hampshire District (including the area within South Downs National 
Park) will be refused, unless meeting relevant material planning considerations and  
supported by a Habitats Regulations Assessment and, where necessary, an 
Appropriate Assessment that demonstrates that the development would not result in 
harm to the SPA, and that has been agreed by the Competent Authority (the Council 
or the SDNPA) in consultation with Natural England.  If applications are permitted 
through this process, the net increase in dwellings would not count towards the total 
windfall allowance.



12

3.0 GLOSSARY 

Acronym Word Definition 

 Adoption The final stage of implementing the Supplementary 
Planning Document, this requires the local planning 
authorities to agree the content of Supplementary Planning 
Document for decision taking and make it publicly available.

AA Appropriate 
Assessment

See Habitats Regulations Assessment

 Concealed 
households

Households, living within other households, who are unable 
to set up separate family units.

 Consultation An opportunity for the public and stakeholders to make 
comments on any policies and content within the 
Supplementary Planning Document. All comments will then 
be taken into account when preparing the final version of 
the Supplementary Planning Document. 

 Consultation 
Portal 

The Councils consultation portal not only enables you to 
register for notifications and updates, it also puts you in 
charge of ensuring that we have your most up to date 
contact details and allows you to submit your comments 
online during active consultations, or to opt out of future 
notifications.

 Consultation 
Statement 

A statement prepared by East Hampshire District Council 
and South Downs National Park Authority to show the 
consultation that has been undertaken during the 
preparation of the Supplementary Planning Document.
  

 Doubling-up Where there are more than the permitted number of 
caravans on a pitch or plot.

EqIA Equalities 
Impact 
Assessment 

To analyse the potential and actual effects of a policy on 
vulnerable groups and make suitable modifications to 
reduce or avoid any negative impact.

 Gypsies and 
Travellers

Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or 
origin, including such persons who on grounds only of their 
own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or health 
needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but 
excluding members of an organised group of travelling 
showpeople or circus people travelling together as such. 
(Planning Policy for Traveller Sites, 2015)

GTAA Gypsy, 
Traveller and 
Travelling 
Showpeople 
Accommodation 
Assessment

An independent assessment of the need for gypsy, 
traveller, and travelling showpeople accommodation.



13

HRA Habitats 
Regulations 
Assessment

Used to assess the impacts of proposals and land-use 
plans against the conservation objectives of a European 
Protected site and to ascertain whether it would adversely 
affect the integrity of that site.

 In-migration Movement into or come to live in a region or community.

JCS Joint Core 
Strategy 

A document that sets out the key planning policies for the 
District. 

NPPF National 
Planning Policy 
Framework 

A document that sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be 
applied. The Framework was published in March 2012.

PPTS Planning Policy 
for Traveller 
Sites

National planning policy for travellers sites which should be 
read in conjunction with the NPPF.

 Pitch/Plot Area of land on a site/development generally home to one 
household.  Can be varying sizes and have varying caravan 
numbers.  Pitches refer to Gypsy and Traveller sites and 
Plots to Travelling Showpeople yards.

 Rural Exception 
Affordable 
Housing Sites

Small sites used for affordable housing in perpetuity where 
sites would not normally be used for housing. Rural 
exception sites seek to address the needs of the local 
community by accommodating households who are either 
current residents or have an existing family or employment 
connection. Small numbers of market homes may be 
allowed at the local authority’s discretion, for example 
where essential to enable the delivery of affordable units 
without grant funding.

SDNP South Downs 
National Park 
Authority

The Planning Authority for the South Downs National Park.

 Site An area of land on which Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople are accommodated in 
caravans/chalets/vehicles.  Can contain one or multiple 
pitches/plots.

SPA Special 
Protection Area

Areas which have been identified as being of international 
importance for the breeding, feeding, wintering or the 
migration of rare and vulnerable species of birds found 
within European Union countries. They are European 
designated sites, classified under the Birds Directive.

SHLAA Strategic 
Housing Land 
Availability 
Assessment

The SHLAA is a technical study which is used to assist in 
the monitoring of whether there is an adequate supply of 
deliverable housing land. It informs planning process in 
terms of identifying land that is suitable, available and 
achievable for housing uses over the plan period. It 
identifies sites with potential for development, assesses 
their development potential and assesses their suitability, 



14

availability and deliverability.



15

4.0 APPENDIX A – Map showing the location of the Wealden 
Heaths Phase II SPA and its 400 metre buffer zone 



16

5.0 APPENDIX B – Potential for altering the number of new 
dwellings allowed within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 
SPA (November 2015).



17

Revision schedule

Rev Date Details Prepared by Reviewed by Approved by
0 1/12/15 Draft for client review James Riley 

(Associate Director, 
Ecology)

Jesse Honey 
(Principal Town 
Planner)

Sam Jackson (GIS 
Consultant)

James Riley 
(Associate 
Director, 
Ecology)

Tessa Harding (Associate 
Director, Ecology)

AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited
Scott House
Alencon Link
Basingstoke
RG21 7PP

Tel: +44 (0)1752 310 200

www.aecom.com



18

Limitations

AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited (“AECOM”) has prepared this Report for the 
sole use of “Client” (“Client”) in accordance with the Agreement under which our services were 
performed. No other warranty, expressed or implied, is made as to the professional advice 
included in this Report or any other services provided by AECOM. This Report is confidential 
and may not be disclosed by the Client or relied upon by any other party without the prior and 
express written agreement of AECOM. 

The conclusions and recommendations contained in this Report are based upon information 
provided by others and upon the assumption that all relevant information has been provided 
by those parties from whom it has been requested and that such information is accurate.  
Information obtained by AECOM has not been independently verified by AECOM, unless 
otherwise stated in the Report. 

The methodology adopted and the sources of information used by AECOM in providing its 
services are outlined in this Report. The work described in this Report was undertaken during 
October and November 2015, and is based on the conditions encountered and the information 
available during the said period of time. The scope of this Report and the services are 
accordingly factually limited by these circumstances. 

Where assessments of works or costs identified in this Report are made, such assessments 
are based upon the information available at the time and where appropriate are subject to 
further investigations or information which may become available.  

AECOM disclaim any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any 
matter affecting the Report, which may come or be brought to AECOM’s attention after the 
date of the Report.

Certain statements made in the Report that are not historical facts may constitute estimates, 
projections or other forward-looking statements and even though they are based on 
reasonable assumptions as of the date of the Report, such forward-looking statements by their 
nature involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from 
the results predicted. AECOM specifically does not guarantee or warrant any estimate or 
projections contained in this Report.

Where field investigations are carried out, these have been restricted to a level of detail 
required to meet the stated objectives of the services. The results of any measurements taken 
may vary spatially or with time and further confirmatory measurements should be made after 
any significant delay in issuing this Report.

Copyright
© This Report is the copyright of AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited.  Any 
unauthorised reproduction or usage by any person other than the addressee is strictly 
prohibited. 



19

1  Scope

In order to ensure that the numbers of net new dwellings delivered within 400m of the Wealden Heaths 
Phase 2 SPA are controlled, Natural England has requested that the number of dwellings that were 
identified in the Local Plan Joint Core Strategy HRA as being expected within 400m of the SPA 
(approximately 30 dwellings) is used as an effective cap on net new dwellings and that net new gypsy 
and traveller pitches should be included as part of that allowance.

East Hampshire District Council has asked AECOM to consider whether there is scope for changing 
this cap to an alternative figure. In our proposal we identified several issues that would be investigated 
to ascertain whether there was a basis for such a change. These were:

 Testing to what extent it is accurate to include gypsy & traveller pitches within the allowance;
 Examining any precedents around other SPAs designated for nightjar and woodlark;
 Considering the basis for the ‘approximately 30 dwelling’ figure and whether an alternative threshold 

would be more appropriate.

2  Background

In the February 2012 Pre-Submission HRA where this issue was first discussed, an analysis was 
undertaken of the number of dwellings that were likely to be delivered in East Hampshire (including the 
National Park)5 over the period until 2028. 

Based purely on a statistical analysis, it was considered that applications for approximately 30 windfall 
dwellings could be expected to come forward during the plan period. The details of how the estimate 
was calculated were provided in Appendix 2 of the February 2012 HRA.

Gypsy and traveller plots were specifically excluded from this calculation (paragraph 6.4.17 of the 
February 2012 HRA, or para. 6.4.18 of the 2013 HRA), as at the time it was concluded that proposals 
for new plots within 400m were unlikely to come forward.

It was ultimately concluded that ‘a further 30 dwellings would be an increase of approximately 1% 
[actually 1.04%]. It is considered unlikely that such a small increase would result in a material increase 
in urbanisation impacts. There is therefore no basis to conclude that the Joint Core Strategy will lead to 
likely significant effects as a result of ‘urbanisation’ of the [Wealden Heaths Phase 2] SPA’.

In the 2013 HRA report the expected number of net new dwellings over the plan period within 400m of 
the SPA in East Hampshire (including the National Park) was increased to 33. However, the conclusion 
regarding impacts on the SPA remained unchanged since the scale of development remained 
‘approximately 1%’ [actually 1.15%].

5 Any net new increase in dwellings within the Waverley part of the 400m zone was discounted from the calculations 
on the basis that: a) although there was an expectation of approximately 50 windfall dwellings in the Hindhead area 
over the plan period, the Council confirmed that these were likely to be covered by the spare capacity of the 
Hindhead Concept Statement which already included an accepted SPA Avoidance Strategy and b) There were two 
SHLAA sites within 400m of the SPA at Hindhead (HIND001 – Highways, Tilford Rd, Hindhead, with capacity for 
up to 10 dwellings and HIND007 – Oakdale, Portsmouth Rd, Hindhead, with capacity for up to 41 dwellings) and 
which would not be covered by the Concept Statement but the HRA of the Wealden Core Strategy concluded that 
these were unlikely to be deliverable due to a combination of their combined size and proximity to the SPA (c. 
200m) and existing objections from Natural England, so they were excluded from the calculation. Waverley Council 
has confirmed that they believe these considerations still stand and that Waverley can therefore continue to be 
excluded from the calculations.



20

3  Clarifying the total current housing stock within 400m of the SPA

For this exercise in 2015, the number of existing dwellings within 400m of the SPA was recalculated 
using a more refined methodology. This involved:

 Plotting on GIS a 400 metre buffer around all five SPA parcels across both local authorities;
 Plotting on GIS the postcode points appearing within those buffer zones and turning them into a 

dataset;
 Cross-referencing this postcode dataset to a separate national postcode dataset giving number of 

households per postcode;
 Calculating the number of households in the 400m buffer zone;
 Determining the ratio of households to dwellings in East Hampshire and Waverley, using data from 

Census 2011; and
 Dividing the number of households by this ratio to determine the baseline number of actual dwellings 

in the 400m buffer zone.

This analysis confirmed that there are 473 households within 400m of the SPA in Waverley district and 
2,290 households within 400m of the SPA in East Hampshire; 2,763 in total. In the 2011 Census, East 
Hampshire had 49,099 dwellings and 47,258 households, giving a household to dwelling ratio of 0.963. 
In the same Census, Waverley had 51,545 dwellings and 49,280 households, giving a household to 
dwelling ratio of 0.956.

There are therefore 495 dwellings6 within 400m of the SPA in Waverley district (0.96% of all dwellings 
in the district) and 2,378 dwellings7 (4.84% of all dwellings in the district) within 400m of the SPA in East 
Hampshire. In total, therefore, across both authorities, these revised calculations estimate there are 
approximately 2,873 dwellings within the 400 metre buffer zone of the SPA. 

Therefore, the number of dwellings within 400m of the SPA as estimated for the Joint Core Strategy 
HRA appears to have been broadly accurate (actually approximately 10% higher than those from the 
current calculations). The 10% difference does not materially alter the analysis that was undertaken in 
2013, in that 33 net new dwellings is an approximately 1% increase whether the 2013 or 2015 numbers 
are used.  

It can therefore be confirmed that the assessment in 2013 did not underestimate the number of existing 
dwellings within 400m of the SPA.

4  Validity of including gypsy and traveller sites

In general, there is a discussion to be had as to whether the provision of gypsy and traveller sites is 
actually associated with a net increase in the gypsy and traveller population or whether it is more a 
matter of providing legal and properly serviced facilities to replace unofficial sites. In addition, unlike 
permanent conventional dwellings, there is a question as to whether gypsies and travellers utilise the 
pitches provided on a sufficiently regular and frequent basis to meaningfully increase in traveller 
population of a given area. For example, if past experience indicates that the majority of new pitches 
are likely to remain unoccupied most of the time (and particularly bearing in mind that woodlark and 
nightjar are most affected by disturbance during the spring and summer rather than the autumn and 
winter) then there may be a basis for excluding them from the considerations that would apply to other 
residential development.

6 473/0.956 = 495
7 2,290/0.963 = 2,378



21

Based on data supplied by East Hampshire District Council, there are currently 42 gypsy and traveller 
plots within 400m of the SPA. Of these, 13 have been granted permission since April 2014 (i.e. after 
the Joint Core Strategy HRA baseline was established). The vast majority of these plots appear to be 
legal and permanently occupied (although not necessarily by the same family all-year-round).

It therefore appears that any new gypsy & traveller pitches within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 
2 would likely involve a net increase in the gypsy and traveller population within that zone (if not in the 
district as a whole), rather than replacement of an existing legal site for an unofficial site. Based on 
existing patterns of use it also seems very likely that, while individual families may come and go through 
the year, any new pitches have a good chance of being in effectively permanent use. On this basis, 
there seems to be no reason to exclude gypsy and traveller sites from other forms of residential 
accommodation that would lead to a net increase in the population of the 400m zone.

5  Examining precedents around other SPAs

Table 1 below contains all English SPAs that are (at least in part) designated for nightjar and woodlark. 
It includes a) those SPAs for which a total prohibition on net new dwellings within 400m exists (coloured 
orange), b) those SPAs for which housing is permitted within 400m but restrictions are imposed 
(coloured blue) and c) those SPAs for which, to the best of our knowledge, there is no restriction on 
housing delivery within 400m (coloured green). The colouring is arbitrary and purely to separate SPAs 
into groups. 

Table 1. English SPAs designated for nightjar and woodlark

Site Area 
(ha)

Number of existing 
dwellings within 400m

Weighted dwelling density 
(dwellings within 400m/ha of 
designated site)

Dorset Heathlands SPA 8,164.82 33,431 4.09
Thames Basin Heaths 
SPA

8,286.92 30,253 3.65

Ashdown Forest SPA 3,196.92 2,846 0.80
East Devon Heaths SPA 1,119.94 301 0.27
Wealden Heaths Phase 2 
SPA

2,050.69 2,873 1.40

Thursley, Hankley & 
Frensham Commons SPA

1,874.90 1,777 0.95

Minsmere-Walberswick 
SPA8

2,018.92 908 0.45

Sandlings SPA 3,391.19 1,147 0.34
Breckland SPA9 39,283.96 9,165 0.23
Thorne & Hatfield Moors 
SPA

2,449.20 6 0.02

It can be seen that all those sites that have no controls at all on net new housing development within 
400m clearly have a lower number of existing dwellings relative to the size of the European site than is 
the case for Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA. This indicates that existing pressure from development 
within 400m is likely to be commensurately lower and also suggests that the quantum of new 

8 The numbers for Breckland SPA and Minsmere-Walberswick SPA are more difficult to compare with the other 
SPAs because large parts of both sites are designated for other birds and are unsuitable for nightjar and 
woodlark
9 Although the actual number of dwellings within 400m of the Breckland SPA is much greater than around Wealden 



22

development that might be expected within 400m is low10. The decision not to impose any restrictions 
appears to be based on an expectation that no housing proposals would be likely to come forward within 
this zone anyway. The same cannot be said for the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 although clearly the 
pressure and risk are several times less than for the Dorset Heathlands or Thames Basin Heaths SPA. 
Therefore, there does not appear to be any useful precedent for Wealden Heaths Phase 2 from those 
SPAs for which there are no controls on new development within 400m.

East Devon Heaths SPA appears to be something of an anomaly in that a strategic 400m exclusion 
zone exists despite the fact that existing patterns of development suggest there would be little risk to 
the site without one. The decision appears to have been made purely in order to align the SPA with the 
Dorset Heathlands and Thames Basin Heaths rather than because there was any particular concern 
that an adverse effect on the SPA would otherwise arise.

6  Justification for using ‘approximately 30 dwellings’ as a cap on new housing

The figure of ‘approximately 30 dwellings’, is currently being applied as a cap on net new development 
within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA, but was never intended to be used in this way by 
the authors of the Joint Core Strategy HRA reports.

It is important to understand that the figure of thirty-three dwellings was always intended as a broad 
estimate of the number of dwellings likely to be delivered within 400m of the SPA over the plan period, 
rather than an absolute number; this is unavoidable since it involves estimating the number and location 
of windfall dwellings. This is made clear in Appendix 2 of the February 2012 Pre Submission HRA 
through the use of broad language: ‘… out of the 163 windfall dwellings that are anticipated within 
parishes that abut the SPA in East Hampshire, it seems possible that approximately 30 could come 
forward within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA.’

The conclusion as to whether there would likely to be a significant effect from an increase in dwellings 
of this scale was based on an estimate of the broad change in the number of existing dwellings, the fact 
that this would reflect an approximately 1% increase in housing stock, and the professional judgment 
that such a small degree of change on a site which is not considered to be under particular threat or 
pressure from urbanisation could be considered negligible. 

Since the conclusion regarding no adverse effect on integrity was not based on the raw number of 
dwellings so much as on the proportional increase in dwellings, we consider that a more appropriate 
threshold to be used would be that of an ‘approximately 1%’ increase in net new dwellings compared 
to the baseline as per March 2014. The use of the ‘approximately 1% increase’ threshold would better 
relate to the degree of acceptable change relative to the baseline scale of development located within 
400m, rather than the effectively arbitrary number of 33 dwellings.

The current threshold of 33 dwellings equates to a 1.14% increase in net housing stock. Increasing the 
permissible number of net new dwellings to 43 (i.e. a further 10 dwellings including gypsy & traveller 
pitches), would equate to a 1.48% increase in the total housing stock. Based on the balance of 
households to dwellings, an increase of 43 dwellings could be expected to be an increase of 43 
households if all dwellings were occupied by people who did not already live within 400m of the SPA. 
This would enable a further 10 dwellings to be delivered (an increase of 30% on the current allowance) 
but would remain a numerically small increase and would remain a sufficiently small increase in total 
housing stock that the ‘approximately 1%’ definition of a de minimis scale of net development used in 
the Joint Core Strategy HRA would still apply. 

Heaths Phase 2, when adjusted for the much larger area of Breckland SPA the relative density is much smaller



23

The use of such a threshold would still be precautionary, would still only permit a small total number of 
net new dwellings and would still enable housing density within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 
SPA to be kept low. For example, Table 2 illustrates that there are approximately 30,000 dwellings 
within 400m of each of the Thames Basin Heaths and Dorset Heathlands SPAs; more dwellings than 
lie within the entire core 5km catchment of Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA. In some parts of the Dorset 
Heathlands in particular (such as Purbeck District), over 50% of all existing dwellings within the district 
lie within 400m of the SPA, compared to less than 5% in East Hampshire and less than 1% in Waverley.

Of course, the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA is a considerably smaller site than the Thames Basin 
Heaths or Dorset Heathlands, but even adjusting for that by conversion to a ratio of housing density per 
hectare of site the relative housing density within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 is still much 
less than that around the two other SPAs (the relative density at Thames Basin Heaths and Dorset 
Heathlands is approximately three times that at Wealden Heaths Phase 2).

Table 2. Comparison of the demographic setting for Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA with that for 
Thames Basin Heaths SPA and Dorset Heathlands SPA 

Site Area 
(ha)

Number of existing 
dwellings within 
400m

Weighted dwelling density, allowing for the size 
of the designated site (expressed as dwellings 
within 400m per hectare of SPA)

Dorset 
Heathlands SPA

8,164.82 33,431
 

4.09

Thames Basin 
Heaths SPA

8,286.92 30,253 3.65


Wealden Heaths 
Phase 2 SPA

2,050.69 2,873 1.40

7  Conclusion

Based on the discussion in Section 6, it is considered that there is a rational basis for a small increase 
in the permissible number of net new dwellings within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA, by 
using a more appropriate and less subjective measure than the number of net new dwellings that were 
anticipated at the time the 2013 Joint Core Strategy HRA was written. Increasing the permissible 
number of net new dwellings to 43 (i.e. a further 10 dwellings including gypsy & traveller pitches), would 
equate to a 1.48% increase in the total housing stock. Based on the balance of households to dwellings, 
an increase of 43 dwellings could be expected to be an increase of 41 households if all dwellings were 
occupied by people who did not already live within 400m of the SPA. This would enable a further 10 
dwellings to be delivered (an increase of 30% on the current allowance) but would remain a numerically 
small increase and would remain a sufficiently small increase in total housing stock that the 
‘approximately 1%’ definition of a de minimis scale of net development used in the Joint Core Strategy 
HRA would still apply.



24



NON EXEMPT

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT POLICY AND 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING PANEL

18 April 2018

Draft revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 
Consultation 

Report by Planning Policy

Portfolio: Planning – Cllr Angela Glass 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Councillors the Consultation on the 
Draft revised National Planning Policy Framework. 

1.2 Appendix A accompanying this report contains our draft response. 

2.0 Recommendation

2.1  It is recommended that the Panel:
i) Make recommendations to inform the Councils response. 

3.0 Summary
3.1 The consultation on the Draft revised National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) draft text commenced on Monday 5 March 2018 and closes on Thursday 
10 May 2018.

3.2 The Draft revised NPPF can best be summarised as full rewrite of National 
Policy. The document is now much clearer on which parts relate to decision 
making and plan making, and it is considered the document is now much better 
written and easier to follow. 

3.3. However, there are a number of substantial changes to national policy that will 
result from the implementation of the revised NPPF as currently written, although 
the vast majority of these changes have been included in documents produced 
by the government that have previously been subject to public consultation (for 
example the Housing White Paper).

3.4 Some of the core implications for Plan Making are summarised below: 
 Requirement to utilise the governments standard approach to housing 

need to calculate the miniumum needs and allocate sites to meet this 
need

 Requirement for 20% of sites identified for housing to be less than 0.5ha



NON EXEMPT

 Requirement to support ‘first time buyer’ exception sites
 Much stronger focus on making effective use of land, including setting 

minimum density standards in town centres

4.0 Subject of Report

4.1 The following summarises some of the main changes proposed and officers 
views on these matters including whether we consider it would be useful for 
amendments to be made to the text (or potentially supporting guidance) to 
provide greater clarifty.

The role of strategic plans and Neighbourhood Plans
4.2 The NPPF seeks to provide clarity on the role of strategic plans / policies and 

local policies (such as those contained within Neighbourhood Plans). However, 
we do not consider that the NPPF wording is particulay clear or consistent in 
terms of the Local Plans (Strategic Plans) and Neighbourhood Plans in the 
context of housing allocations to meet objectively assessed needs. For example, 
early paragraphs imply the strategic plan (i.e. the Local Plan) should deal with 
housing allocations to meet needs (paragraphs 11, 13 and 20), whilst paras 
24, 30 and 66 seem to enable local policies (which includes Neighbourhood Plan 
policies) to allocate sites to meet housing needs.

4.3 We consider amendments to the text and additional guidance is required. 

Requirement for 20% of smaller sites identified for housing to be less than 0.5ha
4.4 Paragraph 69 identifies that smaller sites can make an important contriobution 

towards meeting housing needs and introduces a requirement for local 
authorities to ensure that at least 20% of the sites identified for housing in their 
plans are of half a hectare of less.

4.5 What is unclear is whether by sites they mean the allocations contained within 
the plan or whether this all components of supply that make up a plan would 
count, such as:

 Completions 
 Planning permissions
 Windfalls
 Allocations

4.6 Within the planning authority area, a significant number of completions, planning 
permissions and windfalls would be on sites of 0.5ha or less. 

4.7 We consider amendments to the text and additional guidance is required.

First time buyer exception sites

4.8 Paragraph 72 states that local authorities should support the development of 
entry level exception sites, suitable for first time buyers (or those looking to rent 



NON EXEMPT

their first home), unless the need for such homes is already being met within the 
authority’s area. These sites should be outside of existing settlement on land that 
is not already allocated for housing and should:

a) Compormoise a high proportion of entry-level homes that will be offered 
for discounted sale or for affordable rent; and

b) Be adjacent to existing settlements, proportionate in size to them… 

4.9 We consider additional guidance on how to calculate the needs for ‘entry level’ 
homes should be provided to ensure that this policy aspiration is deliverable. 

Rural Economy

4.10 Paragraph 85 has effectively enhanced the policy in relation to the rural economy 
and now states that ‘planning policies and decisions should recognise that sites 
to meet local business and community needs in rural areas may have to be found 
outside existing settlements, and in locations not well served by public transport’.

4.11 Given the rural nature of the district and the low levels of vacancies of 
employment land, we are broadly supportive of the proposals that will enable 
rural businesses to expand. Our adopted Core Staretgy Policy (CP6) is 
supportive of the reasonable extension of existing firms in the countryside. 

Re-use of employment and retail land for homes in area of high demand 

4.12 The document includes a new chapter in relation to effective use of land. 
Paragraph 121 states that planning authorities should should be supportive of 
proposals to ‘use retail and employment land for homes in areas of high demand, 
provided this would not undermine key economic sectors or sites or the vitality 
and viability of town centres (note: the definition of town centres includes 
designated district and local centres).

4.13 We welcome the references to ensuring that any change of employment land 
would not undermine key economic sectors in the district and also in ensuring 
that the vitality and viability of town, district and local centres when considering 
applications that will result in a loss of employment and retail floorspace to 
provide residential accommodation. 

5.0 Implications 

5.1 Resources:  There are no direct resource implications. Costs will be met within 
existing resources and budgets.

5.2 Legal:  Not applicable



NON EXEMPT

5.3 Strategy: Not applicable 

5.4 Risks: Not applicable 

5.5 Communications: All District Councillors were sent a summary notifying them of 
the key changes proposed by the draft NPPF text along with links to access the 
consultation documents.

Appendices:

Appendix A – East Hampshire District Councils response to NPPF consultation

Agreed and signed off by:

Head of Planning: Simon Jenkins 
Legal Services: Sara Bryan 
Finance: Andy Miles 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Angela Glass 

Contact Officer: Ian Mawer
Job Title:       Planning Policy Team Leader 
Telephone:       01730 234152
E-Mail:       Ian.Mawer@easthants.gov.uk



Consultation response form
This is the response form for the consultation on the draft revised National 
Planning Policy Framework. If you are responding by email or in writing, please 
reply using this questionnaire pro-forma, which should be read alongside the 
consultation document. The comment boxes will expand as you type. Required 
fields are indicated with an asterisk  (*) 

Your details 

First name* Ian
Family name (surname)* Mawer
Title Planning Policy Team Leader 
Address East Hampshire District Council, 

Penns Place
City/Town* Petersfield
Postal code* GU31 4EX
Telephone Number 01730234152
Email Address* Ian.mawer@easthants.gov.uk

Are the views expressed on this consultation your own personal views or an official 
response from an organisation you represent?* 

Organisational response

If you are responding on behalf of an organisation, please select the option which 
best describes your organisation. *

Local authority (including National Parks, Broads Authority, the Greater London 
Authority and London Boroughs)

If you selected other, please state the type of organisation 
Click here to enter text.

Please provide the name of the organisation (if applicable) 
East Hampshire District Council



Chapter 1: Introduction

Question 1
Do you have any comments on the text of Chapter 1?

No

Chapter 2: Achieving sustainable development

Question 2
Do you agree with the changes to the sustainable development objectives and the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development?

Not sure

Please enter your comments here

We are broadly supportive of the changes to the Principle Sustainable 
Development Chapter, specifically the explicit reference to the importance of 
irreplaceable habitats including ancient woodland and aged or veteran trees in the 
footnote 7 to paragraph 11. 

Question 3
Do you agree that the core principles section should be deleted, given its content has 
been retained and moved to other appropriate parts of the Framework?

Yes
 
Please enter your comments here

The consolidation of the core principles into the relevant chapter of the document 
is broadly welcomed. 

Question 4 
Do you have any other comments on the text of Chapter 2, including the approach to 
providing additional certainty for neighbourhood plans in some circumstances? 

We are supportive of the introduction of paragraph 14 of the NPPF which provides 
additional certainty for made Neighbourhood Plans that contain housing policies 
and allocations to meet the identified need. 



Chapter 3: Plan-making

Question 5 
Do you agree with the further changes proposed to the tests of soundness, and to the 
other changes of policy in this chapter that have not already been consulted on? 

Yes

Please enter your comments here
We are broadly supportive of the changes to the tests of soundness, specifically 
the amendment of the ‘justified’ soundness test which requires ‘an appropriate 
strategy..’ as opposed to ‘the most appropriate strategy’ as set out in the NPPF. 
We consider that this gives a greater degree of flexibility for Local Authorities to 
determine what is best for their area.  

Question 6 
Do you have any other comments on the text of chapter 3? 

Strategic Policies: We do not consider that the NPPF wording is particularly clear 
or consistent in terms of the Local Plans (Strategic Plans) and Neighbourhood 
Plans in the context of housing allocations to meet objectively assessed 
needs. For example, early paragraphs imply the strategic plan (i.e. the Local Plan) 
should deal with housing allocations to meet needs (paragraphs 11, 13 and 20), 
whilst paragraphs 24, 30 and 66 seem to enable local policies (which 
includes Neighbourhood Plan policies) to allocate sites.

We would welcome clarity on whether strategic plans should allocate sites to meet 
all (the minimum) of the homes and workplaces needed (as set out in para 20) or 
whether, where there is a desire, Neighbourhood Plans can allocate sites to meet 
a component of the (minimum) planning authorities housing needs (as implied by 
paragraph 24). As drafted it could be interpreted that Neighbourhood Plans that 
allocate sites are allocating sites above the minimum number. We consider this 
clarity could be provided by minor revisions to the text as drafted along with the 
publication of guidance within the National Planning Practice Guide. 

Effective Cooperation: The Council is broadly supportive of preparing statements 
of common ground as part of the preparation of the Strategic Plan (Local Plan) that 
should be made publically available through the plan making process. 

Chapter 4: Decision-making 

Question 7 



The revised draft Framework expects all viability assessments to be made publicly 
available. Are there any circumstances where this would be problematic?

Yes

Please enter your comments here
The Council is broadly supportive of the requirements for viability assessments to 
be made public as this provides greater transparency for the public in 
understanding why certain decisions have been made for example approving a 
development with less on site affordable housing provision than the policy 
requirement. In addition, it gives the public the opportunity to scrutinise the 
assumptions being made about development viability.  

Question 8 
Would it be helpful for national planning guidance to go further and set out the 
circumstances in which viability assessment to accompany planning applications 
would be acceptable?

Yes

Please enter your comments here: 
We consider it would be useful to enhance paragraph 58 by providing either 
additional text within the policy and / or additional guidance in the NPPG to set out 
where a viability assessment is needed to support a planning application. This will 
provide greater certainty to both the Local Planning Authority and applicants. 

Question 9
What would be the benefits of going further and mandating the use of review 
mechanisms to capture increases in the value of a large or multi-phased 
development?

Please enter your comments below
We consider the use of review mechanisms to be a useful tool in securing 
increases in values from larger / multiphased development and EHDC has, and 
continues to, use review mechanisms for multiphased schemes. Therefore, the 
mandation of such tools would be welcomed in National Policy.  

Question 10
Do you have any comments on the text of Chapter 4?

None

Chapter 5: Delivering a wide choice of high quality 
homes



Question 11
What are your views on the most appropriate combination of policy requirements to 
ensure that a suitable proportion of land for homes comes forward as small or 
medium sized sites?

Please enter your comments here
Pargraph 69 identifies that smaller sites can make an important contribution 
towards meeting housing needs and introduces a requirement for local authorities 
to ensure that at least 20% of the sites identified for housing in their plans are of 
half a hectare of less.

What is unclear is whether by sites the consultation document as drafted means the 
allocations contained within the plan or whether all components of supply that 
make up a plan would count, such as:

 Completions 
 Planning permissions
 Windfalls
 Allocations

Within EHDC’s planning authority area, a significant number of completions, 
planning permissions and windfalls would be on sites of 0.5ha or less. It is 
therefore important that clarification is provided on whether such smaller sites 
would count towards the minimum of 20%.This could be through 
amendments to paragraph 69 and / or updates to the NPPG. 

Question 12
Do you agree with the application of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development where delivery is below 75% of the housing required from 2020?

Please select an item from this drop down menu
 
Please enter your comments here

Each case should be considered on its own merits based on the local plan housing 
trajectory.

Question 13 
Do you agree with the new policy on exception sites for entry-level homes?

Not sure
 
Please enter your comments here

We are concerned that through the introduction of paragraph 72 that the limited 
number of sites that are currently promoted for rural exception sites (typically over 



70% affordable housing), could be further reduced as land owners see that higher 
returns could be available from ‘entry level exception sites’. This could potentially 
lead to housing waiting lists for traditional affordable housing in rural high value 
locations continuing to increase. For our own circumstances we consider that due 
to high property values ‘discounted sale price’ or ‘affordable rent’ products may not 
be affordable for those most in need and who support the successful operation of 
the rural economy. 

If the policy were to be retained, we are broadly supportive of the inclusion of the 
statement ‘unless the need for such homes is already being met within the 
authorities area’. 

Question 14
Do you have any other comments on the text of Chapter 5?

Paragraph 73 – we note the removal of references to Garden City principles, 
contrary to the White Paper Commitment. We consider this has the potential to 
undermine the delivery of high quality new settlements or extensions to existing 
settlements that follow the placemaking principles of garden cities.

Paragraph 76 – The Council currently produces an annual five year land supply 
position statement wherby we engage with developers and public agencies (such 
as the HCA) involved in the development of larger sites to understand likely 
delivery rates. We consider the policy should be amended to specify that 
enagement with developers should only be for those consents where there are 
potential to be delays to delivery (i.e. infrastructure to be provided before 
commencement / a number of pre-commencement conditions to overcome) or for 
major schemes wherby delivery is likely to continue outside of the five year land 
supply period. 

We consider the above approach strikes the right balance, as in rural districts such 
as East Hampshire a significant number of schemes are minors and a high 
proportion of majors are less than 50 dwellings and deliver in full within the 5 year 
supply period.

We are also concerned that the secretary of state may not have the capacity to 
review all five year land supply position statements in a timely manner, specifically 
given that most local authorities publish their documents around the same time. 

 

Chapter 6: Building a strong, competitive economy

Question 15



Do you agree with the policy changes on supporting business growth and productivity, 
including the approach to accommodating local business and community needs in 
rural areas? 

Yes

Please enter your comments here
We note that paragraph 85 has effectively enhanced the policy in relation to the rural 

economy and now states that ‘planning policies and decisions should 
recognise that sites to meet local business and community needs in rural 
areas may have to be found outside existing settlements, and in locations not 
well served by public transport’.

Given the rural nature of the district and the low levels of vacant employment land 
and premises, we are broadly supportive of the proposals that will enable rural 
businesses to expand. For example, our adopted Core Staretgy Policy (CP6) is 
supportive of the reasonable extension of existing firms in the countryside. 

We consider that paragraph 85 could be further improved if the the following 
additions were made to the policy wording ‘sensitive to its surroundings (for example 
in siting, scale, materials and massing)’.

Question 16
Do you have any other comments on the text of chapter 6?

Click here to enter text.

Chapter 7: Ensuring the vitality of town centres

Question 17
Do you agree with the policy changes on planning for identified retail needs and 
considering planning applications for town centre uses?

Yes

 Please enter your comments here
We are supportive of the policy in respect to retail needs and town centre uses. 
We specifically welcome the reference in paragrapoh 87 to sites that are expected 
to become available within a reasonable period, although it may be useful in either 
the policy and / or guidance to clarify what a reasonable period is. 



Question 18
Do you have any other comments on the text of Chapter 7?

Click here to enter text.

Chapter 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities

Question 19 
Do you have any comments on the new policies in Chapter 8 that have not already 
been consulted on?

Click here to enter text.

Question 20 
Do you have any other comments on the text of Chapter 8?

Click here to enter text.

Chapter 9: Promoting sustainable transport

Question 21 
Do you agree with the changes to the transport chapter that point to the way that all 
aspects of transport should be considered, both in planning for transport and 
assessing transport impacts?

Not sure
 
Please enter your comments here 

We consider the chapter as written is more concise and clearly distinguishes the 
matters that should be considered through planning policies and decision taking. 

We note that the reference to ‘encouraging solutions which support reductions in 
green house gas emissions’ that currently appears in paragraph 22 of the NPPF 
has been replaced with paragraph 104 which states ‘reducing the need to travel 
and offering a genuine choice of transport modes can… reduce congestion and 
emissions, and improve air quality and public health’. 

We welcome the references to benefits of reducing the need to travel and modal 
shift towards sustainable transport models, in terms of improving air quality and 
public health. 

 



Question 22
Do you agree with the policy change that recognises the importance of general 
aviation facilities? 

Not sure

Please enter your comments here
Click here to enter text.

Question 23
Do you have any other comments on the text of Chapter 9?

No

Chapter 10: Supporting high quality communications 

Question 24
Do you have any comments on the text of Chapter 10?

No

Chapter 11: Making effective use of land

Question 25
Do you agree with the proposed approaches to under-utilised land, reallocating land 
for other uses and making it easier to convert land which is in existing use?

Not sure
 
Please enter your comments here

With reference to paragraph 121, we welcome the references to ensuring that any change 
of employment land would not undermine key economic sectors in the district and also in 
ensuring that the vitality and viability of town, district and local centres when considering 
applications that will result in a loss of employment and retail floorspace to provide 
residential accommodation.

However, in a rural district such as East Hampshire, we have a significant number of 
employment sites and premises (specifically in the B-uses) that are currently developed and 
make a valuable contribution towards the local economy. However, these sites are not 



currently allocated for a specific purpose in the Development Plan and therefore we are 
concerned that as currently worded the policy does not acknowledge that there may be an 
evidenced / identified need to retain such land and premises in there existing use.

 

Question 26
Do you agree with the proposed approach to employing minimum density standards 
where there is a shortage of land for meeting identified housing needs?

Please select an item from this drop down menu
 
Please enter your comments here

We consider that building at higher densities where there is an existing or 
anticipated shortage of land could be an effective way to deliver more housing, 
specifically in urban areas where there can be a limited amount of land available 
for development and therefore the ineffective use of land can lead to other 
planning authorities having to seek to address the un-met needs. However, we 
consider additional clarity should be provided to paragraph 123 as to what would 
consitite a strong reason why this would be inappropriate (e.g. impact upon 
heritage assets, infrastructure capacity etc). 

Question 27
Do you have any other comments on the text of Chapter 11?

Click here to enter text.

Chapter 12 : Achieving well-designed places 

Question 28
Do you have any comments on the changes of policy in Chapter 12 that have not 
already been consulted on?

Click here to enter text.

Question 29
Do you have any other comments on the text of Chapter 12?

Click here to enter text.

Chapter 13: Protecting the Green Belt



Question 30
Do you agree with the proposed changes to enable greater use of brownfield land for 
housing in the Green Belt, and to provide for the other forms of development that are 
‘not inappropriate’ in the Green Belt?

Please select an item from this drop down menu
 
Please enter your comments here

Click here to enter text.

Question 31
Do you have any other comments on the text of Chapter 13?

Click here to enter text.

Chapter 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, 
flooding and coastal change

Question 32
Do you have any comments on the text of Chapter 14?

Click here to enter text.

Question 33
Does paragraph 149b need any further amendment to reflect the ambitions in the 
Clean Growth Strategy to reduce emissions from building? 

Please select an item from this drop down menu

Click here to enter text.

Chapter 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment 

Question 34
Do you agree with the approach to clarifying and strengthening protection for areas of 
particular environmental importance in the context of the 25 Year Environment Plan 
and national infrastructure requirements, including the level of protection for ancient 
woodland and aged or veteran trees?



Please select an item from this drop down menu

 Please enter your comments here
Click here to enter text.

Question 35
Do you have any other comments on the text of Chapter 15?

Click here to enter text.

Chapter 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment 

Question 36
Do you have any comments on the text of Chapter 16? 

Click here to enter text.

Chapter 17: Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals

Question 37
Do you have any comments on the changes of policy in Chapter 17, or on any other 
aspects of the text in this chapter?

Click here to enter text.

Question 38
Do you think that planning policy in minerals would be better contained in a separate 
document?

Please select an item from this drop down menu
 
Please enter your comments here

Click here to enter text.

Question 39
Do you have any views on the utility of national and sub-national guidelines on future 
aggregates provision? 

Please select an item from this drop down menu

Please enter your comments here



Click here to enter text.

Transitional arrangements and consequential changes 

Question 40
Do you agree with the proposed transitional arrangements? 

Please select an item from this drop down menu

Please enter your comments here
Click here to enter text.

Question 41
Do you think that any changes should be made to the Planning Policy for Traveller 
Sites as a result of the proposed changes to the Framework set out in the consultation 
document? If so, what changes should be made?

Please select an item from this drop down menu
 
Please enter your comments here

Click here to enter text.

Question 42
Do you think that any changes should be made to the Planning Policy for Waste as a 
result of the proposed changes to the Framework set out in the consultation 
document? If so, what changes should be made?

Please select an item from this drop down menu
 
Please enter your comments here

Click here to enter text.

Glossary

Question 43
Do you have any comments on the glossary?

Following case law regarding the issue of residential gardens in built up areas are 
greenfield but gardens in countryside are brownfield, we expected to see an 
amendment to the NPPF glossary in terms of ‘previously developed land’ to 
exclude all residential gardens. This would support the aim of paragraph 71 



because at the moment, people can submit their gardens in the countryside for 
inclusion on brownfield registers.



NON EXEMPT

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT POLICY AND 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING PANEL

18 April 2018

Article 4 direction for changes of use from employment to 
residential use, on selected sites and areas outside of the South 
Downs National Park

Report by Planning Policy

Portfolio: Planning – Cllr Angela Glass; Business Support – Cllr Glynis Watts 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Councillors the outcomes to the 
consultation on the non-immediate Article 4(1) direction, to revoke permitted 
development rights that enable the conversion of employment floorspace to 
residential use.

1.2 A non-immediate Article 4(1) direction was made on 31st January 2018, and 
notice was served for 30 different employment sites and areas covered by the 
direction, in accordance with the regulations of the Town & Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended). The 
Article 4(1) direction has been subject to an eight-week period of consultation, 
between 2 February 2018 and 30 March 2018. Appendix A accompanying this 
report contains a Consultation Statement which sets out how the Council 
promoted the consultation, the comments received and officer responses to 
these comments. Appendix B contains a copy of the Article 4(1) direction that 
was made on 31st January.

1.3 The comments received will need to be considered by the Council, for purposes 
of deciding whether or not to confirm the Article 4(1) direction and bring it into 
force on 31 March 2019. In deciding on this matter, the Head of Planning will 
liaise with the portfolio holders for Business Support and Planning, taking 
account of Appendix A and the views expressed by the Development Policy and 
Affordable Housing Panel. 

2.0 Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel:
i. notes the content of the Consultation Statement (Appendix A of this 

report);



NON EXEMPT

ii. notes that a decision on whether or not to confirm the Article 4(1) 
direction will be made by the Head of Planning, in liaison with the 
portfolio holders for Business Support and Planning.  

3.0 Summary

3.1 This report and accompanying Appendices set out a summary of the comments 
received during the eight-week public consultation on the non-immediate Article 
4(1) direction, which closed on 30 March 2018. This report further summarises 
the officer responses to the comments, to help demonstrate how the Council is 
taking account of the representations received, before it decides on whether or 
not to confirm and subsequently bring into force the Article 4(1) direction.

3.2 If confirmed, the Article 4(1) will remove permitted development rights on 
selected sites and employment areas, for the change of use of land or buildings 
from office, light industry, or storage and distribution use to residential use. 
Planning permission would need to be sought for these changes of use as a 
result of the direction.

4.0 Subject of Report

4.1 The Article 4(1) direction was subject to consultation with interested parties for a 
period of eight weeks between 2 February 2018 and 30 March 2018. 
Representations were invited from the occupiers and landowners of the sites 
affected; from the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government, Hampshire County Council and the South Downs National Park 
Authority; and from interested members of the public by means of a local 
advertisement and site notices. The Article 4(1) direction was made available to 
view on the Council’s website, together with maps of the affected sites/areas and 
an employment background paper, which provides up-to-date evidence and 
justification for the direction. 

4.2 During the public consultation period, a total of 11 different organisations 
responded with comments either supporting or objecting to the Article 4(1) 
direction. Further comments were received by e-mail or telephone, including 
information requests from the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government; however no view of support or objection was expressed to the 
direction itself in these further comments. Concern was expressed by some 
landowners regarding the process of notifying occupants/the public by site notice, 
however this step is prescribed by legislation and cannot be avoided. If the 
decision is taken to confirm the direction, planning officers will take care to 
ensure that letters are sent to landowners and occupants in advance of further 
public notification.



NON EXEMPT

4.3 Details of the representations expressing support or objection to the Article 4(1) 
direction are provided in the Consultation Statement at Appendix A. These 
representations were received from occupiers and landowners (or their agents) of 
the properties affected; from the National Farmers’ Union; and from two parish 
councils (Bramshott & Liphook, Medstead). Six representations offered some 
form of support for the Article 4(1) direction, whilst four representations objected 
to the inclusion of specific sites and/or to the overall justification. One 
representation queried the lack of inclusion of further sites in Medstead parish.

4.2 The six representations offering support for the Article 4(1) direction were often 
from businesses that occupy properties within the sites/areas affected. There 
was an appreciation of the need to retain industrial premises, to support new 
residential development occurring elsewhere; and of the need to retain a variety 
of business premises in both urban and rural locations. One landowner proposed 
that more of their land (undeveloped but used as open storage) should be 
covered by the direction; however it is not necessary to do so and this would not 
serve the purpose of the Article 4 direction.

4.3 The four representations objecting to the Article 4(1) direction were often from the 
landowners of the sites/areas affected. These respondents often perceived 
benefits from the potential use of the permitted development rights that would be 
removed. It is however important to keep in mind that the effect of the Article 4 
direction is not to prevent appropriate redevelopment, but to better ensure that 
the Council’s development strategy is implemented. The Article 4(1) direction 
would mean that planning permission would be required for changes to 
residential use on the sites/areas affected. Policy CP4 of the Council’s Joint Core 
Strategy (adopted June 2014) provides opportunity for the redevelopment of 
employment sites, which may include redevelopment to residential use, where 
they are no longer suitable for employment use. The Article 4 direction does not 
therefore prevent residential redevelopment but enables the Council to consider 
redevelopment proposals in detail and in accordance with its planning policies, 
which is appropriate for the district’s higher quality employment sites. 

4.4 Three of the representations criticised the Council’s justification for including 
specific sites or for making the Article 4 direction. In response, the Council’s 
approach takes account of and is consistent with national planning policy and 
guidance; and is based on an appreciation of economic indicators relevant to 
East Hampshire and a qualitative site assessment that was undertaken by the 
Council’s planning policy officers over the summer of 2017. The importance of 
addressing housing needs was raised several times, however the Council 
already has a positive development strategy for meeting housing needs and has 
more than a five-year supply of housing land, which is one of the Government’s 
preferred measures for boosting significantly the supply of housing. The Article 
4(1) direction supplements measures to support sustainable economic growth in 
East Hampshire and is not considered to be to the detriment of the sustainable 
development of housing in the area, to meet identified needs.



NON EXEMPT

4.5 The National Farmers’ Union expressed concern about the Article 4(1) direction 
and its effect on rural enterprises, particularly in cases where diversification 
projects have failed. In response, the Council’s Local Plan is supportive of the 
redevelopment in such cases, and the effect of the direction is not to prevent 
appropriate redevelopment (see paragraph 4.3 above). Concerns were also 
expressed relating to the provision of low cost housing in the rural area, however 
these could also be dealt with by new affordable housing on rural “exception 
sites” (in appropriate circumstances; see Policy CP14 of the Joint Core Strategy).

4.6 Both of the parish councils that chose to respond to the Article 4(1) direction 
proposed that additional employment sites should also be included. The 
additional suggestions were investigated, but in each case the Council’s site 
assessment findings provide evidence to support their exclusion from the Article 
4(1) direction (i.e. so that it remains fully consistent with national planning policy 
and guidance).

4.7 Following consultation on the Article 4(1) direction, no changes are advised by 
planning officers. If confirmed by the Head of Planning, following discussion with 
the council’s portfolio holders for Business Support and Planning, the non-
immediate Article 4(1) direction would be confirmed and come into force on 31 
March 2019. This delay is to avoid the need for the Council to pay compensation 
for changes of use to residential use on the affected sites/areas; the Council 
would be liable to pay such compensation but this liability does not extend 
beyond a year from the point at which the Article 4(1) direction was made.

4.8 In order to confirm the Article 4(1) direction, the process of notifying affected 
landowners and occupiers by letter and the erection of site notices would need to 
be repeated. This is in accordance with the Town & Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015. Planning officers will take steps 
to ensure that respondents to the consultation are also notified of future progress, 
including any confirmation of the direction.

4.9 If the Article 4(1) direction is brought into force, it will require planning permission 
to be granted for changes of use from office, light industry or storage and 
distribution use to residential use on the affected sites/areas. It does not, in-itself, 
protect employment uses or prevent residential redevelopment. Instead, the 
Council will consider planning applications on their own merits, in accordance 
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

5.0 Implications 

5.1 Resources:  There are no direct resource implications. Costs will be met within 
existing resources and budgets. The Council would not be liable in the event of 
confirming the Article 4(1) direction because of its non-immediate nature and the 



NON EXEMPT

fact that the date of being brought into force is more than one year from the time 
of its being made.

5.2 Legal:  There are legal issues to consider in confirming an Article 4(1) direction, 
in relation to satisfying the necessary regulations. The Article 4(1) direction would 
be confirmed in compliance with the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended). 

5.3 Strategy: The Article 4(1) direction enables the Council to better implement its 
development strategy of supporting sustainable economic growth in East 
Hampshire, through the application of the planning policies of its development 
plan. 

5.4 Risks: There is the potential for a third party to legally challenge the Article 4(1) 
direction. However, the direction would be confirmed in compliance with the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (as amended). The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government could also choose to intervene at any stage in the Article 4(1) 
process and make any amendments that they consider to be appropriate.

5.5 Communications: The Article 4(1) direction was subject to an eight-week 
consultation period with interested parties, which exceeds the minimum 
requirements set out in Schedule 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended).  

Appendices:

Appendix A – Consultation Statement: Direction under Article 4(1) of the Town & 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 for the 
change of use of land or buildings in B1a, B1c and B8 (employment) use to C3 
(residential) use

Appendix B – Direction made under Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015

Agreed and signed off by:

Head of Planning: Simon Jenkins (signed off 10/04/2018)
Legal Services: Sara Bryan (signed off 11/04/2018)
Finance: Andy Miles (signed off 11/04/2018)
Planning Portfolio Holder: Cllr Angela Glass (signed off 11/04/2018)

Contact Officer: Kevin Thurlow
Job Title:       Principal Policy Planner
Telephone:       01730 234213
E-Mail:       Kevin.Thurlow@easthants.gov.uk





1

Direction under Article 4(1) of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 for the change of use of land or buildings in B1a, 
B1c and B8 (employment) use to C3 (residential) use

Schedule 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015

Persons consulted on the Article 4(1) direction

The Article 4(1) direction was subject to public consultation for a period of 8 weeks between 
2 February 2018 and 29 March 2018. Copies of the direction and supporting information 
(namely maps of areas affected by the direction and supporting evidence in the form of an 
employment background paper) were made available to view at East Hampshire District 
Council offices. Public notices were placed within the sites or areas affected (two for each 
site/area, see Appendix 1 for a pro forma) and an advert was placed in The Hampshire 
Independent on Friday 2 February (see Appendix 2). Letters were sent to the following 
parties, notifying them of the Article 4(1) direction (see Appendix 3): 

 Occupiers of premises on the sites/areas affected;
 Landowners on the sites/areas affected;
 Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government;
 Hampshire County Council
 South Downs National Park Authority

The direction and supporting information was also made available to view online at: 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/article-4-direction-conversion-employment-residential-use 

Representations were invited via post or via email. 

Consultation letters 
The Council identified the relevant landowners using land registry information and the 
relevant occupiers using business rates information. A total of 1,060 letters were sent to 
landowners and occupants. 

Documents available on the Council’s website 
Copies of the Article 4(1) direction, maps of the areas affected and an employment 
background paper (containing evidence to justify the direction) were made available to 
view/download on the Council’s website at:

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/article-4-direction-conversion-employment-residential-use 

Summary of the main issues raised by those persons 
A total of 10 individuals and organisations responded to the Article 4(1) direction, although 
one organisation – Medstead Parish Council – was only requesting clarification and further 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/article-4-direction-conversion-employment-residential-use
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/article-4-direction-conversion-employment-residential-use


2

information on the procedure. The comments made are set out in full in the schedule 
attached as Appendix 4.

How those issues have been considered
The Officer comments relating to the points raised through consultation can be found in 
Appendix 4.



3

Appendix 1: Site Notice Template

 

PLANNING NOTICE
Town & Country Planning

(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, as 
amended

NOTICE OF DIRECTION UNDER ARTICLE 4(1) OF THE 
ORDER

 
CHANGES OF USE FROM OFFICE/LIGHT INDUSTRY/STORAGE 
&DISTRIBUTION USE TO RESIDENTIAL USE 

at:  «Address_Line_1» 

East Hampshire District Council intends to make a direction under Article 
4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015, as amended (“the General 
Permitted Development Order”).

The direction relates to development comprising the change of use of a building and 
any land within its curtilage from a use falling within Class B1a (office), B1c (light 
industry) or B8 (storage & distribution) of the Schedule to the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 as amended, to a use falling within Class C3 
(dwelling house) of that Order and removes permitted development rights for 
this type of development. If the direction is confirmed, it would come into force on 
31 March 2019. From that date, planning permission would be required for a change 
of use from Classes B1a, B1c and B8 to Class C3. 

Viewing the Direction
 Details of the Article 4(1) direction and a map defining the areas affected can be 

viewed at and downloaded from the Council’ s website: 
www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation

 If you do not have access to the internet, you can view the direction and its 
supporting evidence at East Hampshire District Council offices, Penns Place, 
Petersfield, GU31 4EX, between the hours of 9am to 5pm, Monday to Friday. 

Commenting on the Direction
 Representations concerning the Article 4(1) direction can be made between 2 

February 2018 and 30 March 2018. The Council must take account of 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation


4

representations received during this time, in deciding whether or not to confirm 
the direction. 

 If you wish to comment, you may do so by e-mailing localplan@easthants.gov.uk 
or by writing to Planning Policy, East Hampshire District Council, Penns Place, 
Petersfield, GU31 4EX. Any representations must be received by 5pm on 30 
March 2018.

Please note that late representations will not normally be taken into account. We will not 
acknowledge receipt of your comments unless you request it; however, your views will be 
taken into account when a decision is made on whether to confirm the direction. Your letter 
or email will be placed on a public file and cannot be treated as confidential. Please ensure 
that you provide us only with information that you are happy to be made available to others. 
Anonymous representations cannot be taken into account.

Simon Jenkins
(Head of Planning)  Date: 2 February 2018

mailto:localplan@easthants.gov.uk


5

Appendix 2: Local Advertisement



6

Appendix 3: Letters sent out for the Article 4(1) direction



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16

Appendix 4: 

NB: all paragraph references in the ‘Officer Response’ column are to the revised SPD except where otherwise stated

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

REP01 – National 
Farmers’ Union

We are generally uncomfortable with the proposal to 
remove permitted development rights from B1(c) (light 
industry) to Class C3 (dwelling houses). We recognise 
that in the vast majority of cases, light industrial buildings 
created through farm diversification will be a valuable part 
of the enterprise. However, in some cases, there could be 
small number of locations where diversification has not 
succeeded (e.g. due to poor internet connection or poor 
connections to the wider road network). In these cases, 
light industrial use may not be the most sustainable use. 
This will only apply in a small number of cases and the 
market should be allowed to regulate the change of use 
through Class PA of permitted development. With 70% of 
farm income relating to EU subsidy, diversification is likely 
to become ever more important to rural businesses 
because of Brexit. Rural populations are also aging at a 
faster rate than urban populations and farm businesses 
are faced with a constraint where older retired generations 
occupy the housing stock, so that there are relatively few 
opportunities for younger employees. In a rural context 
Class PA could provide a useful alternative to addressing 
this housing need. We request that you reconsider how 
the direction is applied to rural locations within the district. 
We also request that any applications under Class PA 
within the next 12 months should be fast-tracked for 
approval.

Comments noted. The effect of the Article 4(1) 
direction is not to prevent appropriate redevelopment, 
but to better ensure that the Council’s development 
strategy is implemented. Policy CP4 of the Council’s 
Joint Core Strategy (adopted June 2014) provides 
opportunity for the redevelopment of employment 
sites that are no longer suitable for employment use. 
As such, the circumstances mentioned regarding the 
failure of diversification projects would be taken into 
account through the planning application process. 
The effect of the direction would not be to cause an 
impediment. 

In relation to the housing issue, the Council has more 
than a five year supply of housing land and has a 
proactive strategy for the development of new 
housing, including the provision for new affordable 
housing in the rural area on “exception sites”. By 
contrast, the Council’s employment background 
paper identifies constraints in the commercial 
property market across East Hampshire, justifying 
additional scrutiny of proposals involving the loss of 
employment floorspace. No change to the Article 
4(1) direction is advised.

REP02 – 
Medstead Parish 

Medstead Parish Council has been made aware that 
EHDC has removed the Permitted Development Rights 

Noted. The response that is summarised below was 
made by e-mail on 20/02/18 and recognised by the 



17

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Council from three commercial sites in Medstead and Four 
Marks (EHDC 015, EHDC 023 and EHDC 024). Please 
also note that the latter two sites are in Medstead, not 
Four Marks. 

We would ask why only these three sites have been 
selected for this action when there appears, on the face of 
it, many sites of equal importance  that at present provide 
a lot of employment within the two parishes and would 
benefit from this added protection?

By way of illustration: In Four Marks, Ranch Industrial 
Estate and Hazel Road Business Area. In Medstead, 
McNeil’s Business Park (Red Hill) and Soldridge Business 
Park. This is not an exclusive list.

We look forward to hearing from you regarding this issue.

parish council on 21/02/18. No change to the Article 
4(1) direction is advised.

The Article 4(1) direction is being made to better 
ensure the application of the Council's existing 
development strategy and policies. It enables the 
Council to consider proposals for a change of use by 
applying its planning policies, in circumstances when 
permitted development rights would otherwise grant 
permission. As such, the effect of the direction is to 
enable greater scrutiny of proposals on identified 
sites. It does not provide any additional protection, 
over and above that of existing planning policies. 

That said, the Council is concerned that the use of 
permitted development rights may undermine its 
strategy of sustainable economic growth, by 
exacerbating constraints in the commercial property 
market through reducing the supply of the best 
quality employment sites. The Article 4(1) process is 
a response to this issue. However, in identifying sites 
for the Article 4(1) direction, the Council also needs 
to make sure that it adheres to national planning 
policy and guidance. 

The national planning practice guidance (PPG) is 
clear: "The use of article 4 directions to remove 
national permitted development rights should be 
limited to situations where this is necessary to protect 
local amenity or the wellbeing of the area"  (PPG 
Reference ID: 13-038-20140306). The process that 
the Council has used to identify sites for its Article 
4(1) direction has been developed accordingly. Full 



18

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

details of the process of identifying candidate sites 
are given in the supporting employment background 
paper.

The background paper makes clear that a thorough 
qualitative review of employment sites across East 
Hampshire (outside of the South Downs National 
Park) has been undertaken by planning policy 
officers. All of the sites mentioned in the e-mail by the 
Medstead Parish Council were visited and appraised. 
The performance of these sites and others can be 
reviewed at Appendix 2 in the background paper.
 
The sites mentioned are not without their merits, 
although it should be noted that only Hazel Road 
Industrial Estate scored relatively well in the 
qualitative assessment. Other sites mentioned by the 
parish council did not perform as well, due to poor 
accessibility, poor access arrangements or 
fragmented/poor site configuration. All of these 
matters limit the market attractiveness of sites.  In 
addition to the qualitative aspects of the assessment, 
sites/areas also needed to pass various tests, to be 
identified for the Article 4(1) direction. With regard to 
Hazel Road Industrial Estate, this site did not meet a 
"strategic significance" factor in respect of its size. 
The Council's basic premise for the Article 4(1) 
process is that the loss of employment sites due to 
residential conversion could undermine its 
development strategy and therefore the economic 
well being of its area. This position becomes less 
clear and justifiable for small sites. Therefore, given 
the Government's planning practice guidance, sites 



19

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

such as Hazel Road Industrial Estate were omitted 
from the direction.

It is not possible to comment further, with respect to 
any unidentified sites. However a robust process has 
been used in identifying candidate sites as detailed in 
the employment background paper.

REP03 – Sue 
Richards, Samson 
Installations Ltd

We would like to register and confirm our full support for 
Article 4(1) at Bentley Industrial Centre, Bentley, Farnham, 
Surrey  GU10 5NJ.
 
We currently lease Unit 8 at Bentley Industrial Centre, 
Bentley, Farnham, Surrey  GU10 5NJ and wish them to 
remain as Office/Light Industry/Storage & Distribution use.

Support for site EHDC004 (Bentley Industrial Centre, 
Bentley) noted. No change to the Article 4(1) 
direction is advised.

REP04 – Derek 
Baker, Complete 
Filtration Solutions 
Ltd and Ultimate 
Filtration Solutions 
Ltd

Having spoken to local businesses I understand the effect 
of this Article 4(1) direction may in fact be to remove the 
option to build residential homes or convert to residential. 
If this is the case and the site (West A3 Enterprise Road) 
has to stay light industrial going forward I am in favour of 
that.

Support for site EHDC027 (West of A3(M)/Enterprise 
Road, Horndean) noted. No change to the Article 
4(1) direction is advised.

REP05 – Stephen 
Cabrol, Riko UK 
Ltd

I am the owner of the site and have submitted my support 
for the removal of permitted development rights for 
change of use from ‘office / light industry / storage & 
distribution to residential use’. However, the area is 
roughly twice as large as that shown on the plan 
EHDC011. 

The reasons for my support and why I think the whole site 
should be included are as follows:
 

Support for site EHDC011 (Inverallen, Kingsley) and 
comments on the provision of employment land 
noted. 

Whilst it is appreciated that open ground to the west 
of the site identified as EHDC011 may be useful for 
rural employment uses; from a technical point of 
view, there is no reason for removing permitted 
development rights from this land in addition to 
removing them from the buildings identified in the 



20

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

The financial prosperity of any community, town, city or 
region is very much dependent upon providing and 
maintaining sufficient employment in the locality. A pre-
requisite requirement should be to ensure there is a wide 
range of commercial properties available for businesses to 
occupy. Businesses are very varied and diverse in the 
premises requirements and suitable premises can vary 
from market stalls and ‘pop up’ shops as well as high-
street shops through to retail parks and large 
manufacturing plants. The required type and size of these 
business premises vary greatly from small storage units 
with little parking requirements though to medium size 
premises with parking for 2-4 cars through to large 
premises with parking for a large number of cars.
 
People live across a whole region and it is imperative that 
employment opportunities are available across a whole 
region and not concentrated in built up areas such retail 
parks on the outskirts of towns etc. or industrial zones 
outside of towns and cities.  It is therefore highly important 
that the location of these business premises is as varied 
are the type of premises. Many businesses require 
premises that are not suited to retail parks or town / city 
locations.  They may have high lorry movements that 
would cause traffic congestion in cities, towns, built up 
area’s or even villages.  Many businesses require ‘open 
space’ to cope with large vehicles as well as ‘open 
storage’ for companies such as plant hire companies, 
highways maintenance, landscaping etc.  
 
The site shown on the plan EHDC011 has been used as 
an industrial / commercial  site for 24 years since planning 
was granted in 1994. It is located outside of a village and 

Article 4(1) direction.This is because there would be 
no opportunity for conversion of the open ground to 
residential use without the need for planning 
permission. No change to the Article 4(1) direction 
is advised.



21

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

does not fall within a location that would be suitable for 
housing ‘in-fill’ and therefore far from suitable for housing 
development.  It is well screened from the road and 
located on poor quality land that is designated by Natural 
England as ‘Other land primarily in non-agricultural use’ 
(REF ALC007 Agricultural Land Classification map 
London and the South East).   The location is on a main 
‘lorry route’ and is therefore very accessible to transport 
vehicles and public transport.  It is located within easy 
reach of numerous villages as well as larger residential 
areas such as Lindford, Bordon, Whitehill and Alton.

REP07 – 
Bramshott & 
Liphook Parish 
Council

With reference to the proposed Article 4(1) Direction, 
Bramshott and Liphook Parish Council supports the 
outcomes and proposals within the Report. However we 
would wish to see the retention of the two employment 
sites in Passfield as they provide an ideal location for 
starter & micro sized businesses where affordability is of 
prime importance for the Parish’s locally grown 
businesses.

Support and comments noted. 

National planning practice guidance (PPG) is clear: 
"The use of article 4 directions to remove national 
permitted development rights should be limited to 
situations where this is necessary to protect local 
amenity or the wellbeing of the area"  (PPG 
Reference ID: 13-038-20140306). The process that 
the Council used to identify sites for its Article 4(1) 
direction has been developed accordingly. Full details 
of the process of identifying sites are given in the 
supporting employment background paper. 

A qualitative assessment of employment sites across 
East Hampshire (outside of the South Downs) has 
been undertaken by the Council. The performance of 
all the sites that were surveyed can be reviewed at 
Appendix 2 of the background paper.

Within the qualitative assessment of sites, Passfield 
Enterprise Centre was identified as having relatively 



22

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

poor site access, no local public transport linkages 
and limited local services. The quality of the site was 
also judged to be relatively poor. Passfield Mill 
Business Park was identified as having relatively 
poor access and a poor layout, with limited evidence 
of recent investment. Although it is recognised that 
these sites may still fulfil a role in the commercial 
property market, in the context of the Government’s 
guidance it would be unreasonable to include them in 
the Article 4(1) direction. No change to the Article 
4(1) direction is advised.

REP08 – Scott 
Naish, Snapdragon 
Composites

I am writing in support of the EHDC Article 4(1) conversion 
for proposed planning rights.
 As a small business owner at one of the proposed light 
industrial areas, I am in absolute agreement of any article 
that helps preserve the industrial areas in & around 
Hampshire. 
 Whilst I do knowledge that we are in need of more 
residential development throughout the country, we also 
need industry to support the residential developments thus 
keeping work opportunities for local communities in 
balance.
 All too often we see developers buy up areas/buildings, 
leave them for years to become delapidated & easily apply 
for change of use so they can reap maximum financial 
reward for little regard for the communnties around them. 
 Any article being proposed to make the changes from 
industrial/commmercial properties to residential 
development, more difficult to obtain approval by has my 
fullest support.

Support noted. The effect of the direction is to enable 
greater scrutiny of proposals on identified sites. It 
does not provide any additional protection, over and 
above that of existing planning policies. That said, the 
development strategy of the Council’s local plan is to 
provide sustainable economic growth and its policies 
are supportive of retaining the best quality 
employment sites, to help meet existing and future 
needs for employment floorspace. No change to the 
Article 4(1) direction is advised.

REP09 – Stephen 
Massingdale, obo 

I am writing on behalf of Paradigm Property Investments 
Ltd to OBJECT to East Hampshire District Council’s 

Comments noted. Paradigm House (map reference: 
EHDC021) is located immediately to the west of a 



23

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Paradigm Property 
Investments Ltd

proposal to remove “permitted development rights” by 
making an Article 4(1) (1) Direction in respect of Paradigm 
House, 14 Wilsom Road, Alton as defined by your Map 
EHDC021.
Paradigm House, an isolated commercial use on the west 
side of Wilsom Road, is surrounded by residential 
development on 3 sides.
It is an eminently suitable site for residential development. 
East Hampshire District Council’s proposal to remove 
“permitted development rights” is contrary to Government 
Policy and the spirit of Government Policy which seeks to 
make land available for residential development.
EHDC claims to have found “evidence of constraint within 
the local commercial property market” whilst publishing an 
overwhelmingly housing led Development Brief for the 
commercial Molson
Coors Brewery Site, whichever scenario goes forward.
EHDC’s message is at best “muddled”.

large area of office-related employment floorspace (at 
Omega Park) and augments the local supply of 
floorspace for such uses. It adjoins residential 
properties but these are thought to be compatible 
with its current use. The content of the Article 4(1) 
direction is consistent with the Government’s national 
planning policy as the sites included (such as 
Paradigm House) are those that have been assessed 
as being important for purposes of supporting 
sustainable economic growth, which is an important 
aspect of planning policy. 

In relation to the housing issue, sufficient land has 
been made available in the district to boost 
significantly the supply of housing. In particular, the 
Council has more than a five year supply of housing 
land and a positive development strategy for 
delivering new housing to meet the identified needs 
of the district.

In relation to the Molson Coors Brewery site, the 
circumstances for securing its viable future use are 
very different to those that would concern Paradigm 
House. The site is different in scale, and has different 
physical and environmental  constraints. 
Furthermore, the previous brewery use is highly 
specialised, without a wide market appeal and could 
note easily be used for other employment uses. The 
redevelopment of this large brownfield site will realise 
a number of benefits to the community, including 
additional new employment opportunities. 

Finally, the effect of the Article 4(1) direction is not to 



24

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

prevent appropriate redevelopment, but to better 
ensure that the Council’s development strategy is 
implemented. Policy CP4 of the Council’s Joint Core 
Strategy (adopted June 2014) provides opportunity 
for the redevelopment of employment sites that are 
no longer suitable for employment use. The Aritcle 4 
direction does not prevent residential redevelopment 
but enables the Council to consider redevelopment 
proposals in detail, which is appropriate for the 
district’s higher quality employment sites, given the 
constraints that have been identified in the local 
commercial property markets. No change to the 
Article 4(1) direction is advised.

REP10 – Andrew 
Watson, Savills 
obo Trustees of 
The Froyle Settled 
Estate

The Estate has no immediate plans to convert the 
buildings into a residential use. However, it is critical to the 
future sustainability of the Estate that they are able to 
retain flexibility to use their assets in the most viable way.

Greater emphasis should be given to the need to provide 
new housing in the District, and the Estate is concerned 
that there is still is not enough emphasis on this important 
aspect. The general shortage of housing is well 
documented and understood. Many local authorities 
cannot meet their housing need, and must rely on 
conversion schemes to help meet the ever-increasing 
demand for new housing. . The Estate feel that residential 
uses should be permitted in line with the Government’s 
stated ambitions of increasing the supply of housing.

In general terms, the retention of employment uses needs 
to be balanced against need to identify additional housing 
sites. It is considered that some commercial buildings at 

Comments noted.The sustainability of rural 
enterprises is an important issue that is recognised 
and is being tackled through the Council’s Local Plan 
(see page 11 of the East Hampshire District Joint 
Core Strategy for recognition of this issue; and for the 
vision, objectives and policies of that document for 
details of how this issue is being tackled). By 
contrast, the issue that is being dealt with, in part, 
through the Article 4(1) process is the evidence of 
constraint in the availability of good quality, suitable 
business premises. 

The Council’s employment background paper, which 
provides evidence in support of the Article 4(1) 
direction, further confirms the position of the Council 
2013 Employment Land Review. This position is that 
although new floorspace is required, so too is the 
modernisation and retention of good quality 
employment sites. The buildings at West End Farm, 



25

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

West End Farm could potentially be used for housing 
without undermining future economic growth.

Brexit has introduced a significant element of uncertainty 
in recent months, not least for Estates like Froyle which 
rely on their ability to diversify their assets.

The Estate is well-located in between two market towns - 
Farnham and Alton. As such, there is wide availability of 
both office and commercial space in the local area.

The surrounding area already comprises an appropriate 
location for people to live. West End farm does not have a 
proliferation of anti-social (e.g. B2) uses which would 
prejudice residential development, and a review of the 
planning history for the site confirms as much. There are 
also a number of residential properties surrounding the 
site (immediately to the north). As far as the Estate is 
aware there has not been any conflict between the 
surrounding residential uses and the commercial uses 
present on the farm.

Part (iv) of the Regulations already provide a sufficient 
level of control. With this in mind, it is unclear why EHDC 
feel that a Direction is necessary in this location.

The Estate does not consider that a case has been made 
to justify a Direction. No evidence of impact on local 
amenity or economic wellbeing has been provided to 
support the Direction.

Upper Froyle, qualify as good quality employment 
sites in the rural area. The employment background 
paper also provides evidence that there is insufficient 
availability of good quality employment sites.

In relation to the housing issue, sufficient land has 
been made available in the district to boost 
significantly the supply of housing. In particular, the 
Council has more than a five year supply of housing 
land and a positive development strategy for 
delivering new housing to meet the identified needs 
of the district.

The effect of the Article 4(1) direction is not to 
prevent appropriate redevelopment, but to better 
ensure that the Council’s development strategy is 
implemented. Policy CP4 of the Council’s Joint Core 
Strategy (adopted June 2014) provides opportunity 
for the redevelopment of employment sites that are 
no longer suitable for employment use. The Aritcle 4 
direction does not prevent residential redevelopment 
but enables the Council to consider redevelopment 
proposals in detail, which is appropriate for the 
district’s higher quality employment sites, given the 
constraints that have been identified in the local 
commercial property markets.

The “Part (iv)” text quoted in relation to the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) provides a 
planning authority with the means of refusing a prior 
notification to implement the permitted development 
right for conversion to residential use from an 



26

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

industrial/storage or distribution use. However, the 
text only enables the Council to consider whether the 
sustainability of industrial or storage and distribution 
uses would be prejudiced in the area affected by the 
proposal; not across a wider planning area such as 
East Hampshire. If those uses at West End Farm 
would cease with the redevelopment, due to 
associated business relocation, there would be no 
grounds for refusing residential reuse under this part 
of the Order. However, the continued use of the 
premises may still be important for other businesses 
in East Hampshire.

On the basis of the foregoing, no change to the 
Article 4(1) direction is advised.

REP11 – D C 
Bradley, Cromwell 
Holdings Ltd

We are the freehold owne of a property known as 
Wallbrook Office Cente, Mill Lane, Alton, which forms part 
of the proposed Article 4(1) direction for Newman Lane, 
Alton (map reference: EHDC017).

We write to object to the Council confirming the Article 
4(1) direction as we do not believe the Council has made 
such a direction in accordance with national Government 
guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework 
which directs there must be a clear justification for 
removing national permitted development rights. Indeed, 
we believe the Council has failed to demonstrate a clear 
justification, particularly at a site-specific level.

The sheer number of proposed sites listed in the Council’s 
Employment Background Paper demonstrates a blatant 
disregard for national Government policy and suggests an 

Comments noted. As noted within the response from 
Cromwell Holdings, the Article 4(1) direction is 
supported by an employment background paper. This 
paper establishes an up-to-date evidence base for 
the Article 4(1) direction, by considering a range of 
economic indicators regarding the commercial 
property market and the wider economy of East 
Hampshire. It contains a qualitative site assessment 
which is itself an expanded review of that undertaken 
in the Council’s 2013 Employment Land Review. The 
site assessment covers a larger number of sites than 
have been included in the Article 4(1) direction and is 
a key piece of evidence for informing the direction, 
though it is not the only piece of evidence justifying 
the direction, including its scope and contents. The 
Article 4(1) direction is also based on a review of the 
policy context, including national policy and guidance.



27

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

effort by the Council to circumvent such national policy. 
Moreover, the assessment of individual sites is superficial 
at best and potentially misleading, therefore providing 
scope for poor decision-making.

Our aforementioned property, Wallbrook Office Centre, is 
referred to as Selborne House which, in fact, is just one of 
four buildings that comprise Wallbrook Office Centre. The 
summary of findings section describe Selborne House as 
‘new buildings’ whereas all four buildings were built in 
1989/90, so are now almost 30 years old.

As a long term investor in Alton, we are acutely aware that 
the market demand for office accommodation in the town 
has been patchy over a very long period of time. Indeed 
the original developer of Wallbrook Office Centre was 
placed in liquidation shortly after completing the 
development and market rents now are still at very similar 
rates almost 30 years later. Hence the flexibility offered by 
existing national permitted development rights form an 
essential part of an investor’s toolkit when considering 
viable alternative uses.

We would therefore urge you to reconsider the Article 4(1) 
direction in relation to the Newman Lane Alton area, 
particularly in respect of Wallbrook Office Centre where 
the potential for change of use to residential may assist in 
securing the long-term viability of this mixed use micro-
location which includes Alton Retail Park, Mill Lane just a 
couple of hundred yards distant.

The Council’s Article 4(1) direction takes account of 
and is in accordance with national planning policy 
and guidance. National planning practice guidance 
(PPG) is clear: "The use of article 4 directions to 
remove national permitted development rights should 
be limited to situations where this is necessary to 
protect local amenity or the wellbeing of the area" 
 (PPG Reference ID: 13-038-20140306). The process 
that the Council used to identify sites for its Article 
4(1) direction has been developed accordingly. The 
Article 4(1) direction is being made to better ensure 
the application of the Council's existing development 
strategy and policies. The Council is concerned that 
the use of permitted development rights may 
undermine its strategy of sustainable economic 
growth (which would detrimentally affect “the 
wellbeing of the area”), by exacerbating constraints in 
the commercial property market through reducing the 
supply of the best quality employment sites.

The site identified as Selborne House – for purposes 
of public intelligibility, given the signage – has been 
appraised by the Council to provide relatively good 
quality, flexible accommodation with a good quantity 
of parking. Commercial property agents recently 
acting to market the site, Wadham and Isherwood, 
have described the property as providing “modern air 
conditioned office” accommodation and described the 
Wallbrook Office Centre as a successful 
development. The Council’s Planning Officers have 
themselves observed improvement works being 
undertaken during the site assessment process in 



28

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

summer 2017. Therefore, there is no doubt that this 
particular development contributes to the provision of 
good quality office accommodation in Alton and that it 
has seen recent investment; despite the single 
inaccuracy in the Council’s background paper of 
describing the buildings as ‘new’.

It is also noteworthy that Wadham and Isherwood 
describe the property as being “within the heart of 
Alton’s principle [sic] business area”. Although the 
buildings are relatively close to retail services, they 
also adjoin other business premises within the 
Newman Lane area. The current use is therefore 
appropriate given the property’s location.

Please note that the effect of the Article 4(1) direction 
is not to prevent appropriate redevelopment, but to 
better ensure that the Council’s development strategy 
is implemented. Policy CP4 of the Council’s Joint 
Core Strategy (adopted June 2014) provides 
opportunity for the redevelopment of employment 
sites that are no longer suitable for employment use. 
The Aritcle 4 direction does not prevent residential 
redevelopment but enables the Council to consider 
redevelopment proposals in detail, which is 
appropriate for the district’s higher quality 
employment sites, given the constraints that have 
been identified in the local commercial property 
markets.

On the basis of the foregoing, no change to the 
Article 4(1) direction is advised.



29












	Agenda
	5 Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning Document
	Appendix A - Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA SPD Consultation Statement
	Appendix B - Wealden Heaths Phase II  SPA SPD (April 2018)

	6 EHDC Response to National Planning Policy Framework Consultation
	DPAHP Appendix A - EHDC Consultation_response_NPPF

	7 Article 4 direction for Changes of Use from Employment to Residential Use, on Selected Sites and Areas Outside of the South Downs National Park
	AppAConsStat 1
	AppBArt4Dir




